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Devoted to new energy Contributing to Society Benefiting mankind
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Pursuing excellence Leading the development of new energy
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Leveraging talents to full play ~ Win-win in harmony
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SENERE
GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BB Financial data 2009 2010 2011

(A FETIT) (expressed in HK$'000)

EEE Turnover 663,373 698,083 406,285

E7 Gross profit 79,114 20,201 24,555

ARABERARERFERRT Profit for the year attributable to

owners of the Company 68,033 96,065 11,472

BEEHE Total borrowings 1,277,410 1,046,320 1,326,948

ARAHER AEGER Equity attributable to owners

of the Company 1,532,732 1,659,103 1,724,024
WEME BB Acquisition of property, plant
and equipment 108,125 32,469 96,540
BTITHA Staff costs 54,803 65,308 52,882
BRARNBEEA Net asset attributable to owners
IR EEEBT) (K1) of the Company
per share (HK$) (note [) 0.386 0418 0.434

B tE % Financial ratios

mB L X (HiE2) Current ratio (note 2) 2.75 L1 1.42

R E (B73) Quick ratio (note 3) 2.59 0.98 1.01

BELX (Kita) Gearing ratio (note 4) 83% 63% 77%

ft it - Note:

1. BRARXF ARA FE Net asset attributable Equity attributable Number of
BEAEG = BEEA + BE to owners of the = to owners + issued shares
FEE®E i Bt 2B Company per share of the Company at year end

2. REBLE = RBHEE - RPHER Current ratio =  Current assets  +  Current liabilities

3. RPR = (RBHBE-FE) - nHPERE Quick ratio = (Current assets - Inventories) + Current liabilities

EN/N
BEA
e

4. BELRE = BEL®E -+

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

Equity attributable

Gearing ratio =  Total borrowings +  to owners of the

Company

ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERREFE  BATFBMRERER (&
B)ERAR ([ARA]) REMBEAE (BH
[A&EE])REBE-_FT——F+=-A=1+—8
UHBEFREZEBRREMAT »

RERE

HZE2011F128318  REER20MME2 &
EWRL0,6298B T KFEERRFAHEEA
JEME BRI 147TEETT - M2010F 2 & %5 A
£69,8088 L - FWHEA AELEETF9,607
BEL BEERL42%  MERBFIH D
88% ° FNEEFER » 19,6798 B LKA
ERNEERBER - 2,8428BTRARE
BRABEZHEE S - 2,8958 B LKA H
EWRLER  106778BTKEHELIH
Kt 4,5368 % Lk B EAMAABEES - 2010
FREEP - 26474BFLKEHER N
EHBER 322BBTREREZENE
EIHEEN 5 28BBLREHERLE
27,2558 B TR BHEL IHE 7,598
BETRABMMEEAES -

EEERIPIZRAAEEERERERL
TE¥E URHMEESERENESERZ
TE MHESNEAMBEEBRERLF
HEK19641BHE T RABTHMER L
REHTEBEERNERMEE T B H
€ LiiFRAFFEFR -—RAEZTHH
LR EEANER 15,7968 8 T R ES
ELERRBAER3038E L BFRLE
ZRRNEFRE LA AR EE REE
FEKIE102638 8L MEKEREER
SREEN  2011EREHEE - TR
WA ANEEAFIEM 8048 % T -

FEIMABRER (£8) BRAR | 2011 £

On behalf of the Board of Directors, the business performance of China
Energine International (Holdings) Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the financial year ended 3|

December 201 | is summarized in the following paragraphs.

RESULTS SUMMARY

As of 31 December 2011, the Group's turnover for the year 201 |
amounted to HK$406.29 million with a profit for the year attributable to
the Company's owners of HK$11.47 million as compared to those for
the year 2010 of HK$698.08 million with a profit for the year attributable
thereto of HK$96.07 million respectively, representing 42% decrease in
turnover and 88% decrease in profit for the year. The turnover for the
year comprised sale of wind energy related products of HK$196.79
million, sale of electricity generated from wind farm of HK$28.42 million,
sale of rare earth permanent-magnet motor products of HK$28.95
million, sale of chemical materials of HK$106.77 million and sales of
HK$45.36 million related to telecommunication business whereas the
turnover in 2010 comprised sale of wind energy related products of
HK$264.74 million, sale of electricity generated from wind farm of
HK$32.23 million, sale of rare-earth permanent-magnet motor products
of HK$52.58 million, sale of chemical materials of HK$272.55 million and

sales of HK$75.98 million related to telecommunication business.

The decrease in turnover was mainly due to the Group's focusing
resources on core wind energy main business and controlling the impact
arising from strong price volatility of trading material resulting in the scale
reduction of trading material and telecommunication business by
HK$196.41 million in total plus the impact on wind turbine sales from
the control on the delivery progress thanks to the rise of rare earth
magnetic steel price. The said profit for the year was mainly attributable
to profit contribution of a jointly controlled entity relating to automotive
component business of HK$157.96 million and the profit contribution of
HK$39.03 million from operation of wind farm.The decrease in the profit
for the year was mainly attributable to a reversal of impairment loss in
relation to the carrying amount of the said jointly controlled entity of
HK$102.63 million in last year, which yet did not have cash flow impact.
There was not such a reversal in the year 201 | and there would be an
increase in profit attributable to owners by HK$18.04 million excluding

such reversal in consideration.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business of Wind Energy

In 2011, the directdrive wind turbine, on the strength of its simple
structure, high reliability, high efficiency and low operation and
maintenance costs, had participated in the fierce competition in the
domestic wind turbine market. Facing price drops in the market, the
Group proactively addressed these challenges by giving full play to the
advantages of the technology, quality and service of CASC directdrive
wind turbines. In line with this, the Group capitalised on its products’
leading edge and achieved cost control by adopting the strategy of
technology advancement and batch production through research and
development, thereby achieving high supply chain performance and cost
effectiveness. In addition, through Inner Mongolia Wind Turbine General
Assembling Plant, Gansu Wind Turbine General Assembling Plant and
Jiangsu Energine Wind Turbine General Assembling Plant, the Group
adopted the strategy of establishing good relationship with several
provincial and autonomous region governments and leveraging provincial
and autonomous regions’ quotas for wind energy to obtain more wind

resources in seeking more production orders for wind turbines, thereby

increasing our market share.

In 2011, the Group attained wind energy resource reserves of more than
I million KW in the environment of slowdown of the industrial growth,
laying a solid foundation for the future business development of the

Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Since the directdrive wind turbines have gearless drive and are
characterised with the use of low-speed large-torque generators and full-
power convertor and strong resistance to grid voltage fluctuation, their
advantages include low wear and tear, high efficiency of electricity
generation, small size, light, ready to repair and low operating cost as
compared to the traditional wind turbines. As such, the directdrive wind
turbines, in particular, the permanent-magnet directdrive wind turbines
featuring proprietary intellectual property rights, high quality and
renowned Aerospace brand names, have well been received by domestic

and foreign large-scale wind farm developers.

2011 saw the strong price volatility of rare-earth materials, the major
materials of wind turbines. Before October, the price of rare-earth
magnet significantly rose. The Group developed excitation magnet
directdrive makes in effort to avoid the greater impact thereof on the
results of the Group. Meanwhile, the Group proactively controlled the
progress of wind turbine production and delivery, thereby the sales falling
short of the expectation. In 2011, the Group sold a total of 24 2MW
wind turbines to the wind farms in Baiyin City and Gaizhou City.
Currently, the price of rare-earth magnet has fallen by around 50% such
that the impact has been substantially reduced. The deliveries relating to
contracts entered into in 201 | by the Group are expected to commence

in 2012 gradually.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

In December 201 I, Beijing Energine Industry Co. Ltd. ("BEI", a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group) entered into an agreement on the
establishment of a joint venture, namely Gaizhou Energine Wind Power
Co. Ltd. ("Gaizhou Wind Power") for the development and operation of
wind farms. Gaizhou Wind Power has a registered capital of RMBI71.07
million which are held as to 40%, 30%, 28% and 2% respectively by BEI,
Zhongneng Huali Investment Co. Ltd., Suzhou Tepu Wind Energy
Technology Co. Ltd. (“Suzhou Tepu”), and Liaoning Juzi Industrial Co., Ltd.
in which BEI contributed RMB68.43 million. Gaizhou Wind Power is to
construct and operate two wind farms in Gaizhou City, Liaoning, i.e.
Gaizhou Xutun Aerospace Wind Farm and Gaizhou Tazigou Wind Farm,
each having a capacity of 48MW, securing production orders of wind
turbines for the Group. According to the agreement, Zhongneng Huali is
obliged to purchase 30% equity out of the 40% equity of Gaizhou Wind
Power to be held by BEI within |2 months after connection of grid for
electricity delivery has commenced operation at a consideration equal to
an appraisal value but no less than the apportioned capital amount plus
its capital gain to be calculated at a rate of 10% per annum from the
capital injection date, leaving BEI holding 10% equity thereafter.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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In the same month, BEl entered into a shareholder agreement for
establishing Suzhou Energine Tepu Wind Energy Technology Ltd. (“Suzhou
Wind Energy”) in relation to manufacture and sales of directdrive wind
turbines. The joint venture has a registered capital of RMB200 million and
was held as to 35%, 30%, 15%, 15% and 5% respectively by BEI, Suzhou
Tepu, Suzhou Technology Town Start-up Business Investment Co. Ltd.,
Suzhou Sanke Investment Management Co. Ltd. and Suzhou Sanhuan
Investment Management Co. Ltd.. in which BEI contributed RMB70
million. BEI has the right to assign 3 directors out of the total 5-director
board, i.e. more than 50% directorship therein of Suzhou Wind Energy,
which therefore became a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.
Suzhou Wind Energy is to be engaged in the manufacture and sales of
wind turbines in Suzhou, Jiangsu in production of 2MW double-fed and
[.SMW excitation magnet directdrive wind turbines. The capacity of the
annual production of the plant of Suzhou Wind Energy will reach 500
sets of 2MW double-fed directdrive wind turbines and 200 sets of
I.SMW excitation magnet directdrive wind turbines, reflecting the
Group’s expansion of its core business in terms of markets in Jiangsu and

the East China region and of wind turbine makes offering to customers.

In 2011, the Group's subsidiary, Gansu Wind Turbine Assembling Plant
commenced its operation and completed the production missions of
[.5MW and 2MW wind turbines together with another subsidiary, Inner
Mongolia Wind Turbine Assembling Plant smoothly, further laying the solid

foundation for the Group’s northern market business.

2011 3R
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CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

Jiangsu Wind Turbine General Assembling Plant, a jointly controlled entity of
the Group, is the Group's specialised wind turbine production plant in the
south, assisting the Group in completing the research and development
work of excitation magnet engine as to |.5SMW wind turbine as well as the
warranty maintenance and the ultimate inspection work for deliveries
relating to the Qidong Dongyuan wind farms in Jiangsu. The Group has
financed certain loans to that jointly controlled entity in ensuring its
operation. The jointly controlled entity undertook to repay the loans from
the proceeds upon the realisation of land and building and certain other
assets of that jointly controlled entity if necessary.

Research and Development of Technology

As to the Group’s self-developed turbine control systems, grid-
connection for operation of 900KW wind turbines with self-developed
control system has commenced. The success of the self-developed
control systems enabled the Group to stop relying on foreign control
systems and respond promptly to customer needs, thereby greatly
reduced the costs of production for wind turbines and technical services

relating thereto.

As to the 2MW permanent-magnet wind turbines, the machine loading
calculation, turbine tower design, assembling parts design and blade
design passed the evaluation and appraisal by German Wind Power
Certification Center (DEWI-OCC) and were granted certifications in
relation thereto in 2010, and would be granted design certification by
China General Certification Center (“CGC") after going through the
design documents evaluation and completing the blade testing. In 2011,
for certification of 2MW permanent-magnet directdrive wind turbine, the
Group had completed power quality testing, power curve testing, blade
fatigue testing with 2 million swings, plant manufacturing capacity
evaluation and prototype safety and functional testing.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

11



12 +EMXERER (£E) BRI

BEESWED
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For [.5MW wind turbine, the Group had carried out control strategy
optimisation as well as made specific modifications on technical
documents including the batch production drawings for |.5MW wind
turbine. The certification program of |.5MW wind turbine prototype had
already been confirmed by CGC, and the Group had completed
amendment on the relevant mechanical and electrical drawings and the
structural parts loading calculations according to the certification
requirements, and had submitted all the information necessary for wind

turbine design certification to CGC.

At present, the I.5MW wind turbine, with the initial optimisation
completed and technology status confirmed, has commenced batch
production of a total of 66 sets of 100,000 KW [.5MW wind turbines. As
regards 2MW wind turbine, batch production has commenced as the
Group had determined the product make series adapt to wind farms of
middle-to-low wind capacity as well as seashore environment, with
adaptable technological design to cope with the needs of different wind

farms and wind conditions.
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In September 2011, the Group established a science and technology
committee, which formed a research and development project team on
2MW excitation magnetic directdrive wind turbine to conduct an in-
depth research and study. Meanwhile, the preliminary design and

feasibility study on 3MW new directdrive wind turbine has commenced.

Production Management

In 2011, pursuant to the Group's production and operation plans, the
Group had set up task forces for different makes to strengthen the
management and control of personnel, technology, progress, quality and
risk in ensuring the smooth completion of projects relating to the batch
production of 2MW and [.5MW wind turbines with the planned cost,
schedule and quality. A series of regulated procedures formulated by the
Group, including “the Methods for the Implementation and Management
of Batch Production of Wind Turbines”, “Methods for Deployment
and "Detailed Plan on Batch

had been continuously improved during

Management of Production Plans”
Production of Wind Turbines”,
the implementation process in clarifying the job responsibilities and

progress requirements, thus ensuring the completion of production of

directdrive wind turbines.

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Trading of materials

In 2011, BEI continued the trading business of chemical raw materials in
connection with production of wind turbine blades. However, the scale of
the material trading business significantly shrunk in effort to control the
risk arising from the strong price volatility of the material trade. The sale

recorded a considerable decrease consequently.

Wind Farm Operations

Liaoning Benxi

The CASC Long Yuan (Benxi) wind farm project, controlled and operated
by the Group, is installed with 29 sets of 850KW wind turbines with a
capacity of 24,650KW in total.

An electricity level of 47.27 million kwh was realised during 2011,
representing a decrease of 8.18 million kwh over last year. On-grid power
generation amounted to 45.90 million kwh with realised income from
principal activity of HK$29.14 million, representing a decrease of HK$3.09

million over last year, realising a profit amounting to HK$7.58 million.
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CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

Jilin Longyuan

The Jilin Tongyu wind farm, invested and constructed by the Group, is
installed with 236 sets of 850KW wind turbines with a capacity of
200,000KW in total.

An electricity level of 281.55 million kwh was realised during 2011,
representing a decrease of 60.55 million kwh from last year. On-grid
power generation amounted to 275.44 million kwh with realised income
from principal activity of HK$155.64 million, representing a decrease of
HK$27.30 million over last year, realising a profit amounting to HK$30.34

million.

Jiangsu Longyuan

The Jiangsu Yudong wind power
field project, invested and
constructed by the Group, is
installed with 100 sets of [.5MW
wind turbines with a capacity of

150,000KW.

An electricity level of 335.90
million kwh was realised during
2011, representing a decrease of
13.98 million kwh over last year.
On-grid
amounted to 328.09 million kwh

power generation
with realised income from principal
activity of HK$189.45 million,
representing a decrease of
HKS$1.50 million over last year
realising a profit amounting to

HK$73.25 million.
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Inner Mongolia Xinghe Wind Farm

The Inner Mongolia Xinghe wind farm of Datang Wanyuan, which is
jointly controlled by BEI and Inner Mongolia Datang Wanyuan New
Energy Co,, Ltd, is installed with an installed capacity of 49,500KW.The
first 55 self-manufactured 900KW directdrive wind turbines had been
installed. The wind farm provided not only an environment for
technological improvement of 900KW directdrive wind turbines, but also
a testing base for research and development of 2MW directdrive wind

turbines.

An electricity level of 100.09 million kwh was realised during 2011,
representing an increase of 38.89 million kwh over last year. On-grid
power generation amounted to 97.99 million kwh with realised income
from principal activity of HK$52.88 million, representing an increase of
HK$25.64 million over last year, realising a profit amounting to HK$ 1 1.84
million.

Fujian Min Jian

Energine Min Jian New Energy Investment Co., Ltd., the Group's
associated company, through its subsidiary, Yinkou Wind Power
Generation Co,, Ltd,, had formally been engaged in offshore and land
wind power projects in eastern Fujian. It secured market orders for the
Group for purchase of the Group’s existing make of 2MW directdrive
wind turbines, as well as 3MW and 5MW offshore directdrive wind
turbines being developed by the Group.
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Business of New Materials

[t is the plan of the Group to extensively utilise rare-earth materials in
four major areas: highpower rare-earth permanent-magnet synchronous
generator and variable-flow drive system applied in wind turbines, rare-
earth permanent-magnet gearless traction machines for elevators, special
rare-earth permanent-magnet motor for dual military plus civil
application and its drive system and permanent-magnet directdrive

electrical products.

Jiangsu Aerospace Wan Yuan REPM Motor Co., Ltd., controlled and
operated by the Group, is a high-tech enterprise which specialises in
research and development, manufacture, and sales of rare-earth
permanent-magnet gearless traction machines for elevators. The"fii X &
JR” branded rare-earth permanent-magnet gearless traction machines for
elevators, and its driving control system self-developed by the company's

research and development had filled up a technological gap of the

domestic gearless elevator sector.

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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Wuxi CASC Energine Xindali Electricity Co., Ltd. (“Wuxi Wind Turbine
Plant”), the Group's associated company, is engaged in batch production
of 900KW and |.5MW generators and has realised income from sales.
Therefore, the Group is equipped with the capacity to supply key
components of wind turbines, including blades and generators, thereby
reducing its reliance on upstream suppliers of the wind turbine supply

chain for purchasing generators and perfecting the wind turbine supply

chain in effort to control the production cost.

o—_—

Business of Automotive Component Parts

Automotive engine management systems

Beijing Delphi Wan Yuan Engine Management Systems Co., Ltd, a jointly
controlled entity, is a leading supplier in the domestic automotive
electronic fuel injection market with a stable market share, ranking the
second nationwide and supplied to almost all major domestic automobile
manufacturers. As for export sales, its products are sold to automobile
manufacturers in Europe and North America.

TEMABRER (£E8) ARA
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CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

The jointly controlled entity recorded sales revenue of HK$3,049.45
million in 2011, representing an increase of HK$283.43 million over last
year with realised profit of HK$322.36 million. Its sales expansion and

lower cost targets were successfully achieved.

Automotive sealing systems

Beijing Wanyuan-Henniges Sealing Systems Co., Ltd,, a jointly controlled
entity, is a company specialises in manufacturing of medium-to-high class
automotive sealing products in the domestic market. Its quality control
standards are on par with the international advanced level. The jointly
controlled entity not only realises the development on and complement
to the medium-to-high class models in the domestic market, but also
attains the standards applicable to Germany, France, the United States,

Japan and South Korea with its products.

The jointly controlled entity recorded sales revenue of HK$577.24 million
in 2011, representing an increase of HK$142.58 million over last year
with realised profit of HK$24.88 million. The company will continue to
take measures to enhance production efficiency and realise sustainable
profits by controlling raw material procurement costs, reducing reject

rate and containing expenses as well as through technological innovation

and Toyota Production System (“TPS"), as well as Value Analysis/Value
Engineering (“VAVE").
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Telecommunication Business

The telecommunication products of the Group fully cover various
categories such as GPS mobile terminals, intelligent transport, wireless
communication, GPS automotive information service platform. It is
planned to gradually scale down this business so as to focus resources on

the Group's principal wind energy business.

Following the disposal of its 22.5% equity interest in Castel Qihua Ltd.
("Castel Qihua"”), a provider of GPS mobile terminals and GPS
automotive information services platform in 2010, China Aerospace
Telecommunications Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group)
sold its remaining 47.5% equity interest in Castel Qihua at a
consideration of HK$12.00 million in July 2011, officially leaving the

business.

Ny

Corporate Social Responsibility

The Group always live up to its corporate culture: we have been devoted
to projects on new energy, energy conservation and environmental
protection in the areas of renewable power generation and carbon
emission control in adhering to the principle of protecting the Earth and
ecological environment insistently and our mission of contributing to
society and benefitting mankind; relentless efforts have been made to
pursue excellence in quality in research and development and production
of wind turbine so as to consolidate the CASC brand and earn
customers’ trust; in management, risk management and compliance
system is strengthened to ensure sustainable development; the value of
leveraging employees' talents to full play and win-win in harmony is
implemented to nurture an outstanding corporate team in the course of

fully fulfilling our social responsibilities.
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CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

In 2011, the theme “Faith as Back-up Support, Shouldering in Realising
Responsibilities” with emphasis on sharing the market situation, quality
situation and CASC spirit was commenced with the aim of educating and
guiding all employees to comprehend the environment so as to maintain
a proper attitude and swift mindset, ascertain their respective duties and
responsibilities, and elevate a sense of urgency and career aspirations in

committing themselves devotedly to work with greater vitality.

In addition, Project Care and Love was launched in 201 1. Many Group's
senior executives and frontline staff being stationed away from their
homes had been working diligently and some of them had to be away
from home for long periods. To ensure the stationed executives and
frontline staff can concentrate on their work, the Group took a proactive
role to understand the situations of these executives and their families
and paid visits to them. In helping alleviate stress at work, the Group
organised leisure activities for employees, including trips, movies, and visits
to scenic spots such as Bei Dai He, the Botanical Garden and Hou Hai.
Other staff activities organised include a karaoke competition at Inner
Mongolia Aerospace Science Park, sports activities, a youth staff forum
and employee survey questionnaires. These activities helped motivate
employees being energetic and build an outstanding team with innovative
spirit for the Group, which is essential in living up to the Group’s value of

innovation pioneer in contesting excellence.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group will speed up the progress in domestic
production of wind turbines; focus on the development of 3MW and
5MW wind turbines to tie in with the Twelfth Five-year Plan, capture the
share of the potential wind turbine market in future and identify
cooperation opportunities with other large-scale power generation
groups; refine the batch production of rare-earth motors; and secure
financing for the Group. We shall broaden the scale of energy
conservation and environmental protection business, as well as
strengthen its internal management to ensure the sustainable
development of the Group and create greater shareholder worth and

repute.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had 35 employees (2010: 48
employees) in the Hong Kong head office and 463 employees (2010: 704
employees) in the Mainland China offices. Remuneration of employee is
determined according to individual employee's performance and the
prevailing trends in different areas and reviewed on an annual basis. The
Group also provides Mandatory Provident Fund and medical insurance to
its employees. In addition, discretionary performance bonus is available at
the discretion of the Directors.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Total borrowings of the Group as at 3| December 2011 were
HK$1,326,948,000 (2010: HK$1,046,320,000), of which HK$374,400,000
(2010: Nil) was floating-rate borrowings and the remaining was fixed-
rate. All borrowings of the Group were determined at market interest
rate. The Group has not issued any financial instruments for hedging or

other purposes.

Gearing ratio (total borrowings over shareholders’ equity) as at 31
December 201 | was 77% (2010: 63%).

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2011, certain assets of the Group of HK$22,606,000
(2010: HK$32,644,000) have been pledged to secure bank facility.
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Exchange and Other Exposures

Most of the Group's business transactions were conducted in Renminbi.
The Group expected that the exposure to exchange rates fluctuation
was not significant and therefore has not engaged in any hedging

activities.

The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2011,

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow directors and all
the staff members for their hard work and dedication during the year

under review.

By Order of the Board

Han Shuwang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2012
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Han Shuwang, aged 47, researcher, obtained Bachelor's degree in
Computer Science and Master's degree in Economics and Management
from Tongji University and American Southwest University respectively.
He is a Visiting Professor of Tongji University and achieved Space Award
from China Aerospace Science and Technology Corporation (“CASC").
He served as Deputy Division Chief, Deputy Chief Designer, Director
Assistant and Deputy Director with the Institute of Space Automation
Control of China Academy of Launch Vehicle Technology (“CALT")
between 1988 and 1997, Deputy Director of Political Division of CALT in
1997, Director of Administrative Office of CALT in 1998, General
Manager of Beijing Wan Yuan Industry Corporation in 1999, President
Assistant of CALT in 2000. Since 2002, he has served as Vice President of
CALT. In parallel, he has also been a Director of Aisino Co,, Ltd.
(“Aisino”), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange for
November 2000 to April 201 1. Possessing rich experiences in strategic
research and business administration, he was appointed as an Executive
Director and Vice-chairman of the Company on 14 February 2006 and
became the Chairman on 26 October 2007. He is also a Director of a

number of subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Wang Xiaodong, aged 44, graduated from Beijing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics with a Bachelor's degree in Electronic
Engineering and obtained a MBA from the University of South Australia.
During 1989 to 1998, he worked with Beijing Institute of Spacecraft
System Engineering under the China Academy of Space Technology
(“CAST"), the Comprehensive Planning Bureau of the Ministry of
Aerospace Industry of China and then the General Office of China
Aerospace Corporation, as Assistant Engineer, Engineer, Senior Engineer,
and Secretary to the President cum Deputy Director of the President
Office. In 1999, he, possessing extensive experience in research and
management, was appointed the Executive Director cum Deputy General
Manager of China Aerospace International Holdings Limited. He has been
appointed as Managing Director (later becoming Executive Director cum
General Manager) of the Company since May 1999 and became the Vice-
Chairman and Executive Director of the Company on 26 August 2010;

He is also a Director of a number of subsidiaries of the Group.
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CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Guang, aged 49, senior engineer, graduated from Tianjin
University with Master’s degree in Industrial Automation. He had been
the Designer with the [4th Institute of CALT between 1991 and 1996,
Division Chief of Development Division, and General Manager of Beijing
Long March Hi-tech Corporation from 1996 to 2005. He acted as
Deputy General Manager, General Manager of Beijing Wan Yuan Industry
Corporation successively from 1998. Mr. Li exhibits excellent experience
in scientific research, product development and business administration.
He was appointed as an Executive Director and a Deputy General
Manager of the Company on 14 February 2006. On 31 March 2009, Mr.
Li resigned from Deputy General Manager and was re-designated as
Non-executive Director on | April 2009 following his appointment as the
Chief of Business and Investment Department of CALT. In parallel, he has
been a Director of Astrotech Group Ltd. (“Astrotech”), the Company’s
controlling shareholder since 8 August 2010. Astrotech is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CALT. He was re-designated as Executive Director and
appointed as Chief Executive Director on 6 March 2012. He has also

been a Director of a number of subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Zang Wei, aged 42, senior engineer, obtained his Bachelor's degree
in Engineering at the Telecommunication Engineering Faculty and his
Master’s degree in Telecommunication and Electronic Engineering from
Harbin Institute of Technology. He also obtained PhD in Economics from
Renmin University of China. Since he joined the China aerospace industry
in 1992, he has assumed the Deputy Director with the International
Cooperation Division of China Academy of Space Technology, the Deputy
Director with Assets Management Division, Trading and Investment
Department of China Aerospace Science & Technology Corporation (the
Company’s ultimate controlling shareholder), the Director and CEO of
China Spacesat Co,, Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), the
Director and Senior Vice President of China Spacesat Technology Co., Ltd.
(listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) successively. He possesses rich
experience on management of listed company in relation to assets
operation and internationalization development. He was appointed as a
Vice President (formerly known as Deputy General Manager) of the
Company on 16 March 2007. He was appointed as Executive Director
and CEO of the Company on 26 August 2010. He retired therefrom on 6
March 2012. He was also a Director of a number of subsidiaries of the

Group.
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Mr. Wang Lijun, aged 39. Mr. Wang Lijun graduated from Harbin
Institute of Technology with a Bachelor degree with major in Industrial
Accounting and National University of Defense Technology with a Master
degree in Management. He was qualified as an Accountant in PRC in May
1999. Prior to joining the Company, he was the Chief Accountant with
Beijing CASC Wan Yuan Science & Technology Corporation, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CALT. He was appointed as a Financial Controller of
the Company on 10 May 2008. He was appointed as Executive Director
of the Company on 26 August 2010. He is also a Director of a number of

subsidiaries of the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fang Shili, aged 38, graduated from Peking University with a
Bachelor's degree in Law and obtained a Master degree in Finance from
Renmin University of China. Since he joined the CALT in 1995, he served
as Auditor, Deputy Director with the Second Division in Audit Office,
Director of Consolidated Finance Division, Deputy Chief and the Chief of
the Finance Department. He was qualified as a Lawyer and as a Certified
Accountant in 1997 and a registered Tax Agent in 2007 in PRC. In
parallel, he has been a Director of Astrotech since 8 August 2010. He
was appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company on 26 August
2010.

Ms. Zhang Jianhua, aged 51, registered consultant, graduated from
Nankai University with an Executive Master's degree in Business
Administration. She had been the Officer Assistant, Officer and General
Manager with the China Aerospace Engineering Consultation Centre
("CAECC") successively during 2003 to 2007; the Deputy General
Manager with Beijing Control Technology Co. Ltd. under, and the Chief
Engineer with the Business Investment and Industry Development
Department of, CAST. She has been the Deputy Chief of Business and
Investment Development of CALT since 2010, possessing rich experience
in engineering consultancy, market exploitation, project operation and
business management. Both CAECC and CAST are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CASC.
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AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr.Wang Dechen, aged 72, was graduated with Bachelor degree from
Harbin Institute of Military Technology (formerly Chinese People's
Liberation Army Military Engineering Institute), committee member of the
|0th Chinese People's Political Consultative Congress. He served as the
Assistant Director, Director, Deputy Dean, Vice President, Deputy
Secretary to the Party Committee of Nanjing Eastern China Engineering
College between 1966 and 1985. He acted as Secretary of Education of
the Ministry of China Weapon Industry Ministry’s National Mechanical
Committee in 1985. He served as Deputy General Manager of China
North Industries Group in 1988 to 1990 and of China Weapon Industry
Corp.in 1990 to 1996. He served as General Manager and Secretary to
the Party Secretary of China South Industries Group Corp. from July
1999. From December 2003 onwards, he acted as the Senior Consultant
thereof. From July 2004 to December 2009, he was an Independent
Director of Aisino, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
With rich experience in strategic management and corporate
restructuring, Mr. Wang is the senior expert in Chinese advanced
equipment manufacturing industry and automotive industry. Also, Mr.
Wang is an active advocate and experienced expert in China
environmental protection and clean energy field. He was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 23 January 2008 and

reappointed on 23 January 2011 for a tenure of 3 years.
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Ms. Kan Lai Kuen, Alice, aged 57, is a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow member of the
CPA Australia and an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. She is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors. She has over |5 years of experience in
corporate finance and is well experienced in both the equity and debt
markets. She held various senior positions in international and local banks
and financial institutions and is currently a controlling shareholder and the
Managing Director of each of Asia Investment Management Limited and
Asia Investment Research Limited, both companies are licensed
corporations under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO").
Ms. Kan is a licensed investment adviser under the SFO and a registered
officer of Lotus Asset Management Ltd. Ms. Kan is and was also an
Independent Non-executive Director of each of Regal Hotels
International Holdings Limited , G-Vision International (Holdings) Limited
("G-Vision"), Sunway International Holdings Limited, Shimao Property
Holdings Limited, Shougang Concord International Enterprises Company
Limited, Shougang Concord Technology Holdings Limited (‘Shougang
Concord”) and Sunac China Holdings Limited (“Sunac China"), all of
which are companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and AVIC
International Investments Ltd., a company listed on Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Ltd. She retired from those offices of Shougang
Concord and G-Vision on 8 June 2010 and I'| August 201 | respectively
and resigned from that of Sunac China on 8 June 201 1. She was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director on 23 January

2008 and reappointed on 23 January 201 | for a tenure of 3 years.

Mr. Gordon Ng, aged 47, obtained his Bachelor's degree in
Microbiology and Biochemistry and Master's degree in Intellectual
Property from University of London. He was qualified as a solicitor in
England and Wales in 1993 and Hong Kong in 1994. He has been a
partner of an international law firm advising clients on corporate law and
corporate finance law since May 2010. Prior to that, he had been a
partner of Sidley Austin Brown & Wood, Hong Kong and CMS Cameron
Mckenna, Hong Kong and Hogan & Hartson. He was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 23 January 2008 and

reappointed on 23 January 2011 for a tenure of 3 years.
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CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li You, aged 47, senior engineer. Graduated from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology with the Bachelor's degree in
Electronic Material and Component Specialized Technology, he has
studied courses in economics, banking, finance and business management
of engineering management research class in Beijing Institute of
Technology. Since 1986, he successively served in Beijing Telemetering
Technical Research Institute, CALT's Political Division, Administrative
Office, Civilian Use Development Department as Deputy Director,
Comprehensive Management Director in which he was engaged in the
special case development, technical division management, public relation
management, and civil assets integrative management work. In 2003, he
served as Deputy Chief of Investment Management Department in CALT,
responsible for CALT's civil assets planning management, corporate
management, capital restructuring, and management appraisal work.
Having possessed extensive experience in aerospace civil industry
management, he was appointed as a Vice President (formerly known as
Deputy General Manager) of the Company on 16 March 2007. He was
appointed as Executive Vice President of the Company on 26 August

2010. He is also a Director of a number of subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Chen Wei Nong, aged 55, senior engineer, graduated from Zhejiang
University with a Bachelor's degree in Mechanical Manufacturing
Processes and Equipment. Since 1980, he successively served in Beijing
Jian Hua Electronic Instrument Factory of CALT as workshop craftsman,
designer, Deputy Director of Technology Division, Deputy Chief of Testing
and Control Studio and Deputy Factory Manager of the Factory. He
served as Deputy Chief Engineer of Yuan Wang Group from 1999 to
2003. From 2003 to 2010, he successively served as General Manager
Project Assistant, and Deputy General Manager of Beijing Energine Co.
Ltd. He has served as Chief Engineer of the Company since June 2008,
He was appointed as a Vice President of the Company on 26 August
2010. He is also a Director of a number of subsidiaries of the Group.
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Mr. Hu Wei Lin, aged 47, researcher, graduated from the School of
Mechanical Engineering of Shanghai Jiao Tong University with a bachelor
degree and from China Academy of Space Technology with a Master
degree in Spacecraft Design. Since 1991, he successively served in Beijing
LM Hi-Tech Development Corporation as Designer, Deputy Chief
Engineer, Chief Engineer and Deputy General Manager. In 2007, he was
appointed as Deputy General Manager cum Director of Wind Power
Research and Development Centre of Beijing Energine Industry Co. Ltd..
He has been appointed as General Manager Project Assistant and the
Director of Research on 900KW wind turbine of the Company since
February 2010. He was appointed as a Vice President of the Company on
26 August 2010. He is also a Director of a number of subsidiaries of the

Group.

Mr. Zhang Wei Min, aged 45, researcher, graduated from Department
of Precision Instruments and Mechanology, Tsinghua University with a
Bachelor's degree. He successively served as Designer, and Deputy
Manager in Civilian Product Design House, as Deputy Factory Manager of
Packaging Machinery Factory, as Chief Engineer in Civilian Product Group
of Capital Aerospace Machinery Company from July 1988 to October
2001. During November 2001 to July 2003, he studied at the Research
Centre for Intelligent Machines, McGill University in Canada in obtaining a
Master's degree of engineering. From July 2003, he successively served as
Deputy General Manager, and the Manager of Wind Power Research and
Development Department of Beijing Energine Industry Co. Ltd.. He
served as General Manager Project Assistant of the Company from
February 2010. He was appointed as a Vice President of the Company on
26 August 2010. He is also a Director of a number of subsidiaries of the

Group.
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AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Au-Yeung Keung, Steve. Mr. Au-Yeung graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a Master of Science degree in Electronic
Commerce and Internet Computing, the City University of Hong Kong
with a LLM degree in Chinese and Comparative Law and the University
of London with a LLB degree with honours. He is a fellow member of
both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. He has extensive
experience in company secretarial practice, accounting, auditing and
financial management in Hong Kong and PRC. Mr. Au-Yeung was
appointed as the Company Secretary and authorized representative of
the Company on | June 2006. He has also been the Head of Internal
Audit of the Group.
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INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to
present the Corporate Governance Report of the Group for the year
ended 3| December 201 1.

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures and regards preeminent board of
directors, sound internal controls and accountability to all shareholders as
the core elements of its corporate governance principles. The Group
endeavours to ensure that its businesses are conducted in accordance

with rules and regulations, and applicable codes and standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has complied with all principles as set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules") on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Code"), which became applicable to the Group
in respect of the year under review, and complied with the relevant code
provisions in the Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2011,
with the exception of one deviation from the Code Provision A4.l of
the Code which stipulates that Non-executive Directors should be

appointed for a specific term subject to re-election.

All of the Non-executive Directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term, except that Independent Non-executive Directors are
of a fixed term of 3 years, but are subject to retirement and rotation and
re-election at the Company’s Annual General Meeting (“AGM") in
accordance with the retirement provisions under the Articles of
Association of the Company. The Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken in this regard to ensure that the Group’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the
Code.
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THE BOARD

Board responsibilities and the relationship between board and

management

The Board has the responsibility for management of the Group, which
includes formulating business strategies, and directing and supervising the
Group's affairs, approving interim reports and annual reports,
announcements and press releases of interim and final results, considering
dividend policy, and approving the issue, allotment or disposal or grant of

options in respect of unissued new shares or debentures of the Group.
The overall management of the Group's business is vested in the Board.

The Board takes responsibility to oversee all major matters of the Group,
including the approval and formulation of all policy matters, overall
strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and monitoring

the performance of the senior management.

The Board's role is not to manage the business whose responsibility
remains vested with management. The Board and management fully
appreciate their respective roles and are supportive of the development

of a healthy corporate governance culture.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the management. The Board gives clear directions to the
management as to their powers of management, and circumstances
under which the management should report back. All Directors have full
and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and
services of the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring that the
Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.
Each Director is entitled to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances in carrying out their functions and duties after

making a request to the Board at the Group’s expenses.

Each Director is given contact details of the senior management and is
accessible to them for obtaining information and making enquiries when
required, and to receive adequate information, which must be complete

and reliable, in a timely manner.
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Board composition

The Board comprised nine directors including four Executive Directors,
two Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. There was a majority of Non-executive Directors on the
Board, with a wide range of experience and calibre bringing valuable
judgment on issues of strategy, performance and resources. The
biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 24 to 31 of this
Annual Report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,

experience and qualification.

During the year 2011, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules in appointment of a
sufficient number of three Independent Non-executive Directors, one of
whom has appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and financial

management expertise.

The appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors adheres to
the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Group has received in writing confirmation of their
independence from each of the Independent Non-executive Director
and considers them to be independent of the management and free of
any relationship that could materially interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgment. The Board considers that each of the Non-
executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors brings his

or her own relevant expertise to the Board.

The Directors are aware that they shall give sufficient time and attention

to the affairs of the Group.

The Directors of the Company are unrelated to each other in every

aspect, including financial, business or family.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Han Shuwang is the Chairman and Mr. Zang Wei was the Chief
Executive Officer of the Group for the year. The roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated and assumed by two
separate individuals to strike a balance of power and authority so that
the job responsibilities are not concentrated on any one individual. The
Chairman of the Board is responsible for the leadership, Group strategic
and Board issues, while the Chief Executive Officer has the overall
general management responsibilities for Group operations and

development in general,

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

The Group did not have a Nomination Committee. There were formal,
considered and transparent procedures for the appointment and removal
of Directors. The Board as a whole is responsible for the procedure of
agreeing to the appointment of its members and for nominating
appropriate person for election by shareholders at the AGM, either to fill
a causal vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors. In the
nomination process, the Board of Directors makes reference to criteria
including accomplishment and experience in the industry, professional
and educational background and commitment in respect of available time

and relevant interest.

The process for re-election of a director is in accordance with the
Group's Articles of Association, which require that, other than those
Directors appointed during the year, one-third of the Directors for the
time being are required to retire by rotation at each AGM and are
eligible to stand for re-election. For those Directors appointed by the
Board during the year, they shall hold office until the next following AGM
and shall then be eligible for re-election. The annual report and the
circular for AGM contain detailed information on election of Directors
including detailed biographies of all Directors standing for re-election to

ensure shareholders to make an informed decision on their election.
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Board meetings

The Board conducts meetings on a regular basis and on ad-hoc basis, as
required by business needs. During the year, the Board held a total of
nine meetings and at least once quarterly. The composition of the Board

and attendance of the Directors are set out below:

HERE
EREERH
Number of attendance/
Number of meetings
entitled to attend
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Executive Directors

Mr. Han Shuwang (Chairman) 9/9
Mr. Wang Xiaodong (Vice-Chairman) 8/9
Mr. Zang Wei (Chief Executive Officer) 9/9
Mr.Wang Lijun 919

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Guang 8/9
Mr. Fang Shili 919

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr.Wang Dechen 9/9
Ms. Kan Lai Kuen, Alice 9/9
Mr. Gordon Ng 8/9

For a regular Board meeting, notice of at least fourteen days is given to
all Directors of the Group, who are given an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for discussion and are properly briefed on issues
arising at board meeting. An agenda and accompanying document for
discussion are sent to all Directors of the Group at least three days
before the intended date of a regular Board meeting. For all other Board

meetings, reasonable notices are given.



AEBINEZEERGESEREEZES
R URAKSEESSEANBERT
HER - B EEEREFLZEETADT
BARHFAECHESEREEZEEME
BREBRAERZRE  BEESEMREY
ZHEAGRESREIRHEERL - BARES
CERRIEENBERREBERESS
EHAREEEREAASETASERES
EUHBEREERAFE

HEFERAR—HIBEBRRREENE—F
BRFENGER MEFSRTLZZER
BRER RZFEIEUZEEIARE
(BEEEEEABBIRERMNZFENL
ZHBEEERREHRI)  MERT-RES
Q?%ﬁﬂﬁ%%ﬁ*%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@%i
VEARERE - AGREBBAREBER
#ﬁﬁéﬁﬂémﬁi#ﬁﬁ§$%ﬂﬁ%
HEZEEE -

EZZEE

ExgcRuU=-AZ8e AFMZES
EZZEg  ERUREZES  NUEEX
EEEBLBEEY - AREREFEZES

BUREmMAERREE E=ZBE 2 BE
0 [ T4 0 70 AN 52 B 48 i J M) R PBOR B SRR R
&R -

EZZBeRREHENER  UETER
BURNRHAEERREEEERT @ 2
REUEXER  BRBAAKEX -

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

L= % E \|:| $|§ % %
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board Committees are kept
by the secretary of the Group and are open for inspection at any
reasonable notice by any Director of the Group. Further, minutes of the
Board meetings and meetings of Board Committees recorded in sufficient
detail the matters considered by the Board and the Board Committees
and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or
dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions of minutes of Board
meetings are sent to all Directors of the Group for their comment and
records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after the

Board meeting is held.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter shall not be dealt with by a Committee
(except an appropriate Board Committee set up of that purpose
pursuant to a resolution passed in a Board meeting) but a Board meeting
shall be held, during which such Director must abstain from voting.
Independent Non-executive Directors who, and whose associates, have

no interest in the transaction shall be present at such Board meeting.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Development and Investment
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Group's affairs. All
Board Committees of the Group are established with defined written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board Committees are
posted on the Group’s website and are available to shareholders upon

request.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties, and upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice under appropriate circumstances at the

Group's expenses.
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(A) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of one Non-executive
Director and two Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure
for all remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of formal and transparent procedures for developing

policies on such remuneration.
The main principles of the Group’s remuneration policies are:

I. No Directors or any of his associates is involved in deciding his

own remuneration;

2. Recommendations will be made to the Board at least one time
per year of the specific remuneration packages of all Executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments which include any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment, and the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.
The Remuneration Committee should consider factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based

remuneration; and

3. Review and recommend performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the

Board from time to time.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed and
discussed the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management. The Committee has also approved the remuneration
and the discretionary bonuses of the Executive Directors by
reference to their respective levels of responsibilities and
performance, industry benchmarks, prevailing marketing conditions
and the Group’s financial performance. The Director's fees and any
other reimbursement or emolument payable to the Directors during

the year are disclosed in the Group's financial statements.
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One committee meeting was convened for discussing the
remuneration policy in the year 2011 and the attendances of each

committee member at the meeting are set out as follows:

HERE
ERLELRH

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings
entitled to attend

FUTES

FREE (XE)

BYFHTES

BBt

RERRE

ERZEE

R —F ARRBEHRZRBER=4A
BIUFRTEEN - RFATESA
KeoBGREREGZRNEAREZERR
BEEH2RELSIMAGREMZ[E
%Z BeBRUEEE S RrRIm RS &
R - BEREBEHAEERINERE

- REAKBEZHBERRERLE
EHBREFTR  ABEERER
EE - -ANAERMASEZRHRR

]]] mE>

EEHNEBE_T— %1
LFEZRECHBERER

Non-executive Director
Mr. Li Guang (Chairman) [/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Kan Lai Kuen, Alice [/
Mr. Gordon Ng 0/1

(B) Audit Committee

During the year 2011, the Audit Committee consisted of three
Independent Non-executive Directors plus a Non-executive
Director. The written terms of reference which describe the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee were prepared and
adopted with reference to "A Guide for Effective Audit Committee”
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and in accordance with the Code. The Audit Committee is
responsible for the appointment of external auditor, review of the
Group's financial information and oversight of the Group’s financial
and accounting practices, internal control and risk management. It is
also responsible for reviewing the interim and final results of the

Group.

The audited financial statements for the year ended 3| December

2011 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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Two committee meetings were convened during the year ended 3|
December 2011 and the attendances of each committee member at

these meetings are set out as follows:

HERE
ERLEELRH

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings
entitled to attend
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Non-executive Director
Mr. Fang Shili 2/2

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Kan Lai Kuen, Alice (Chairman) 212
Mr.Wang Dechen 212
Mr. Gordon Ng 12

The Audit Committee has reviewed the terms of engagement of the
external auditor, the revised accounting standards, the 201 | interim
financial report and the 201 | annual financial statements. The Audit
Committee also reviewed the internal control systems, and met with
the external auditor to discuss with them the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligation prior to the commencement of
the audit.

(C) Development and Investment Committee

The Development and Investment Committee consists of four
Executive Directors and one Independent Non-executive Director
during the year. The Development and Investment Committee is
responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the

Group's development and investment plan and strategies.

No Development and Investment Committee meeting was convened

during the year ended 31 December 201 1.

The composition of the Development and Investment Committee is

set out in the corporate information on page 2 of this annual report.
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Internal Control

The Directors have the overall responsibility for internal control and
setting appropriate policies. The Board, through the Audit Committee, has

reviewed the effectiveness of the Group'’s system of internal control.

The Group's internal control system includes a well defined management
structure with limits of authority which is designed for the achievement
of business objectives, so as to safeguard assets against unauthorized use
or disposition, to ensure proper maintenances of books and records for
the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant legislation and

regulations.

The Group has an Internal Audit Team which reports directly to the
Audit Committee. The annual audit plan is approved in the Audit
Committee meeting. The Team conducts independent reviews of the
group business operations; reports significant internal control and risk

management issues; and monitors the resolution status.

The Internal Audit Team reviews and assesses the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group's system of internal control by adopting a risk-
based audit approach developed based on the Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission as recommended by the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, have conducted an annual
review covering all material controls, including financial, operational and

compliance controls and risk management functions.

The Board also opined that there is adequate resources, qualifications
and experience of staff in the Group to monitor the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting functions. The Company will ensure such matters
are under review by the Board periodically and training programmes will
be provided to the staff whenever necessary to ensure their knowledge

and experience are adequate to discharge their duties.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group has adopted the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the
code for dealing in securities of the Group by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December 201 | have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standard and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The statement of external auditor of the Group, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's

Report on pages 57 to 58 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“DTT") was appointed as the external auditor
of the Group by the shareholders at the last AGM of the Group. The
remuneration to DTT recognised for the year ended 31 December 201 |

was set out as follows:

BRmMREHERE 2 ER Fees relating to services rendered
FETL
HK$'000
EiT RS Audit services 3,000
FEFRHG Non-audit services 380
3,380
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The objective of shareholder communication is to provide the Group's
shareholders with detailed information on the Group so that they can

exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities. These include interim and annual reports, announcements and

circulars.

The Group encourages its shareholders to attend AGM to ensure a high
level of accountability and to keep informed of the Group’s strategy and
goals. The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of all the Board
Committees, or in their absence, other members of the respective
committees, are available to answer any questions from the shareholders.
A separate resolution is proposed by the Chairman in respect of each
issue to be considered at the AGM, including the re-election of Directors.
An AGM circular was distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear
business days prior to the AGM (at least 10 clear business days in the
case of all other general meetings), setting out details of each proposing

resolution, poll voting procedures and other relevant information.
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Pursuant to the Listing Rules, all general meetings of the Company are to
be conducted by poll: the Chairman will at the commencement of the
meeting ensure that an explanation of the detailed procedures for
conducting a poll is provided and then answer any questions from
shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll. The poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Group and the Stock Exchange on the

business day of the shareholders’ meeting thereafter.

As a channel to further effective communication, the Group maintains a
website at http://www.energine.hk where the Group’s announcements,
business developments and operations, financial information, corporate

governance practices and other information are posted.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 201 1.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in note 42

to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 201 | are set
out in the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 59
to 60.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the

year are set out in note |6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the vear.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing

shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the year 2011, the Company has no share option scheme

adopted in place.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at
31 December 201 | were HK$1,934,511,000 (2010: HK$1,934,082,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Han Shuwang (Chairman)

Mr. Wang Xiaodong (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Li Guang
(Chief Executive Officer from 6 March 2012)
(Non-executive Director from 6 March 2012
and re-designated as Executive Director thereon)

Mr. Zang Wei
(Chief Executive Officer through 6 March 2012)
(resigned on 6 March 2012)

Mr.Wang Lijun

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fang Shili
Ms. Zhang Jianhua
(appointed on 30 March 2012)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr.Wang Dechen
Ms. Kan Lai Kuen, Alice
Mr. Gordon Ng
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The tenures of offices of the Non-executive Director are from the date
they were last elected to the date of their retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company's Articles of Association; those of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are of a fixed term of 3 years but
subject to retirement and re-election under the Company's Articles of

Association.

Ms. Zhang Jianhua by virtue of expiry, Mr. Han Shuwang, Mr. Wang
Xiaodong and Ms. Kan Lai Kuen, Alice by rotation, shall retire at the close
of the forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance with the
respective Article 99 and |16 of the Company's Articles of Association

and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, its holding companies or its fellow subsidiaries was party and
in which a Director of the Company had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, none of the Directors and chief executives of
the Company or their respective associates had any interest or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Future Ordinance (the “SFO")) which are required
to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of SFO), or to be recorded in
the register required to be maintained pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or otherwise to be notified to the Company or the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of
Listed Companies in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules").

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company or
their associates (as defined in the “Listing Rules”) to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any

other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2011, so far as is known to the Directors, the
persons/entities had an interest or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under provisions of Division 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in
10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying

rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other

Nz MZEATEERZEESFLZ member of the Group and the amount of each of such person’s interest
BRI BAZERAZEMAREENT in such securities or in any options in respect of such capital were as
follows:

BH#E RES D
=L 87 Number of Percentage of
Name Capacity shares  shareholding

(Hraz1)
(Note 1)
FEMAMEEELR ([FHA]) BEXEHARES (HE2) 2,649,244,000 (L) 66.75%
CASC Interest of a controlled
corporation (Note 2)
B E ST R TR S b ([ ETRR)) BEIEH QAR (HE3) 2,649,244,000 (L) 66.75%
CALT Interest of a controlled
corporation (Note 3)
Astrotech Group Limited ( [ Astrotech]) Beneficial owner 2,649,244,000 (L) 66.75%

Wi -
1. LUEBRRBGZER -

2. PRAAEBEA2,649,244,0008% B 1) 2
o RESANSR100%EE -

3. AstrotechIAXE Rz 2EMBAR - Al
k&5 B 48 5 7 B AstrotechfT i 2 B 2

s -

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

Note:

[. The letter """ denotes the shareholder’s long position in the shares.

2. CASC is deemed to be interested in 2,649,244,000 shares as it holds 100%
of the equity of CALT.

3. Astrotech is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CALT. Accordingly, CALT is
deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Astrotech.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

49



50

EEEWREE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BRANAEBREEN  BRADEREES RS
BEPIE336146MRT 2 EREMARRE
EEfAN RZE—F+ZRA=+—8 "
BEAL /BERARXARGXEERG
BAERZIAE  MBBEIEHFRBEROIE
XVEE 2R 37 E0 .2 6 AR E AR AR 7 R 5
RIBR REESREREENTERNTE
ERERTRAEEERMEMK B RARRE
AELBREZEMERRATEI0%EU L
2w NERZERAN 2 MR -

AEX A RFEREX S

RAFEE  REBEFTUTIBEERSREFE
MER S AREBELETRIEUASTELRE
=

() BEMERS

(A) BERKE R FERERAK

R-ETEAFFT_A-tTHLA K
AMERMBARIAREMKER
REREARLA (TARA
BEAREMAEREAVHE
RAR (TAREM]) T LER m

pu}

D%

5
B

)
N

%i"El

& Bl AREMEARBEC
——Ft+ A=t -HLE=ZEHK

ERBIEEGZZETTRAANR
[\ L B QOOK W J2 2 MWV 1 7 [ i
ER(MERBE]D -

FEMABRER (£8) BRA 2011 3R

Save as disclosed herein, according to the register of interests kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was known to the
Directors, there is no other person/entity who, as at 31 December 201 |,
had any interest or short position in the shares of underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who was, directly or
indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any member of the Group or in any options in respect of

such capital.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group has entered into the following connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions which are required to

be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(I) Continuing Connected Transactions

(A) Purchase of Wind Turbine Blades for Turbine
Assembling

[t was announced on 29 December 2009 that two subsidiaries
of the Company, Inner Mongolia CASC Energine Wind Turbine
Manufacture Co. Ltd. (“IM Turbine Manufacture”) and Inner
Mongolia CASC Energine Composite Material Co. Ltd. ("IM
Composite Material”) entered into a Framework Agreement
whereby IM Composite Material is to supply wind turbine blades
as to 900KW and 2MW to IM Turbine Manufacture from time to
time in accordance with the terms of the Framework
Agreement for the three financial years ending 3| December

2011 ("Framework Agreement”).



ARASEMER —ZREMKXM
B R TER R (F5R41.03%) AR
DNEFERRBEAGRZHBE L
7 AEEMER XS E QR
BELIBB10%EENFEREH
BAB MARABZBEAL -
RIE ETRBIE14AE - EEHZTE
TRASEMHRERKER BKEFE
HERS -

BEEEHE BE-FT——F+
ZRA=+—-BLE=FR AFAZ
EREEBBZENZEBEELRS

EoRAAREA1,160,000T © A
R ¥ 86,420,000t & A R %
176,780,0007C ° RZE——FREK
RECBERAREN 2 EEEAA
R #12,308,0007C ° #Z & %I &R
HFE R AR176,780,0007T ©

HEME

o RZEZAF+ZA=Z1+1
HEM ARQRIZZ2ENBRRA
SHMABERMEFRALERDA
(TAEFaER]) BAREMEI L ET
UMEREGRE B AR
BRRAZEMEREUR AR & E
MGEEHAEXEMRE IR Y
¥ FAREERE#AREMES
MEBZIEZRE WAZ BER
REZE HBHEE T —ZTF—H
—HEZET——%+ZA=+—H
EOMT  BFHSREBREAH
AR #8,761,0007T °

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

ESEREE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Since one of the shareholders of IM Composite Material as to
41.03% shareholding is Aerospace Research Institute of
Materials & Processing Technology, which is a subsidiary of the
Company major controlling shareholder of CALT, IM Composite
Material is a connected person of the Company by virtue of
being a non wholly-owned subsidiary with the said more than
0% shareholding. The supplies of wind turbine blades by IM
Composite Material under the Framework Agreement
constituted continuing connected transactions under Chapter
[4A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, the maximum purchase
costs payable by IM Turbine Manufacture under the Framework
Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 201
RMB41,160,000, RMB86,420,000 and
RMB176,780,000 respectively. The total purchase costs

recognized and payable by IM Turbine Manufacture pursuant to

amount to

purchase agreements under the Framework Agreement
amounted to RMB12,308,000 for the year 2011 which was
within the annual cap of RMB176,780,000.

(B) Leasing of Property

[t was also announced on 29 December 2009 that Inner
Mongolia Energine New Energy Development Co. Ltd. ("IM
New Energy"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a property leasing agreement with IM Composite
Material whereby IM New Energy was to lease its premises of
No.| Aerospace Road, Xing Wang Jiao Industrial Park, Xinghe
County, Inner Mongolia to IM Turbine Manufacture as industrial
plant, office, warehouse and associated facilities for manufacture
of turbine blades and other composite materials for a 2 year
term from | January 2010 to 31 December 2011 at an annual
rental and management fee of RMB8,761,000 in total.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

51



52

EEEWREE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(C)

TEMXBRER (£E8) ARAE

mEXA  BRAREN ABE
At BAEBEEMERE LTR
AIE1AAEBRIFERER S - AR
MERBEBRBREEDcESLER
—E-—55# KB AKE¥%6,379,000
T BEmeBEARKS,761,000T
B o

HERK EEERRAERE

RZE—ZTF+—-—A+—HBEH
ARAIMEHRBARNATER - &
SEM ESMRERFANEH
BRARSEILEREBRIZERAA
EFEHIRKRERAR ([LEH
NI ERGZE - Bt RRAE
2RAEEM  EHFAAIRIER
ERERBE-_E——F+-A=
+— A LW E Y B FE R RIEE
&G LSS N HERET.SMW
FOMWEH - B E R RIS 28
R -

AR EEBHNARNARETEERRK
RAS 22 EMBRA W LS
BARADAZBEALT ML
XAt - ARAREN BREA
T BRELTMRAE4AE - ER
mEBETRLEEHHHERE B
BERREERBEXSERER
5 °

2011 F3R

Since IM Composite Material is a connected person as aforesaid,
the leasing of property to them constituted continuing
connected transactions under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.
The total lease amount received by IM New Energy pursuant
thereto for the year 2011 amounted to RMB6,379,000 in total

which was less than the maximum amount of RMB8,761,000.

(C) Supply of Wind Turbines, Wind Turbine Blades and

Associated Services

[t was announced on || November 2010 that IM Turbine
Manufacture, IM Composite Material, Wuxi CASC Energine
Xindali Electricity Co. Ltd. and Beijing Energine Industry Co. Ltd,,
4 subsidiaries of the Company entered into a Framework
Agreement with Shanghai Hanli Machine Tool Co. Ltd.
(“Shanghai Hanli") whereby the 4 subsidiaries were to supply
wind turbines as to [.5MW and 2MW, wind turbine blades and
the associated services incidental thereto to Shanghai Hanli in
accordance with the terms of the Framework Agreement for

the 2 financial years ending 31 December 201 I.

Since Shanghai Hanli is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company's major controlling shareholder of CALT, Shanghai
Hanli is a connected person of the Company and IM Composite
Material is a connected person as aforesaid, the supplies of wind
turbines, wind turbine blades and associated services to
Shanghai Hanli under the Framework Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions under Chapter [4A of the

Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, the maximum purchase
costs and fees payable by Shanghai Hanli under the Framework
Agreement for the two vears ending 31 December 201 |
amount to RMB28,500,000 and RMB20,000,000 respectively. The
total sales and fees for associated services recognized and
receivable by the subsidiaries pursuant to supply agreements
and service agreement under the Framework Agreement
amounted to RMBI19,997,000 for the year 2011 which was
within the annual cap of RMB20,000,000.

(D) Annual Review of the Continuing Connected

Transactions

The Company has engaged the auditor of the Company to
conduct a review of the above 3 transactions (a) to (c)
(“Disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions”) for the year
ended 31 December 2011. The auditor has reported their
factual findings to the board of directors (the “Board”) of the
Company.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the Disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions
for the year ended 3| December 2011 and confirmed that the
Disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions have been

entered into:

() in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from

independent third parties; and
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G)

in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a

whole.

In addition, the auditor of the Company has confirmed to the

Board of Directors in writing that the Disclosed Continuing

Connected Transactions for the year ended 31 December 201 I:

(1

nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that the Disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions have

not been approved by the Company's board of directors.

for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to our attention that
causes us to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of

the Company.

nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements

governing such transactions.

with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
continuing connected transactions set out above, nothing
has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the
Disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions have
exceeded the maximum aggregate annual value disclosed in
the previous announcements dated 29 December 2009 and
I'l November 2010 made by the Company in respect of

each of the Disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions.
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(Il) Connected Transaction

Disposal of Associates

[t was announced on 20 June 2011 that China Aerospace
Telecommunications Ltd. (“CAT"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement on 20 June
2011 whereby CAT agreed to sell and China Rich (Hong Kong)
Investments Ltd. (“China Rich”) agreed to purchase a 47.5% equity in
an associate of the Company, Castel Qihua Ltd. (“Castel Qihua”) for
a consideration of HK$12,000,000. Upon completion of the sale on
22 July 2011, Castel Qihua and its three subsidiaries (Beijing Qihua
Communications Co. Ltd., Tangshan Qihua GPS Co. Ltd. and Beijing
Qihua Huitong Technology Co. Ltd.) ceased to be associates of the
Company.

China Rich, whose shareholders are Mr. Chau and his spouse, Ms.
Kwok, was an associate of a connected person, Mr. Chau by virtue of
being the directors of the Company’s previous subsidiaries (now
associates), Castel Qihua and its 3 subsidiaries, within the preceding
|2 months from 20 June 2010 and was accordingly a connected
person of the Company pursuant to Chapter [4A of the Listing
Rules.

The financial gain on the above disposal is indicated on the note 8 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 201, turnover attributable to the five
largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 85% of the
Group's turnover and turnover attributable to the Group's largest

customer accounted for approximately 28% of the Group's turnover.

For the year ended 3| December 201 I, purchases attributable to the five
largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 40% of the
Group’s purchases and purchases attributable to the Group’s largest

supplier accounted for approximately 5% of the Group's purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, any shareholder who owns more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital had any interests in the above five largest customers

or suppliers.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 3| December 201 1.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to

reappoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Han Shuwang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2012
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Energine
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group’) set out on pages 59 to 172,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free

from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 201 |, and of
the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2012
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BE_T——F1+_A=+—FHIFE
For The Year Ended 31December 201 |

2011 2010
Kt &t FET FHET
NOTE HK$°000 HK$'000
= Turnover 5 406,285 698,083
HERE Cost of sales (381,730) (677,882)
E7 Gross profit 24,555 20,201
H g A Other income 23,678 60,323
H oz REHE Other gains and losses (5,062) (12,258)
HE R HRR Selling and distribution expenses (20,193) (20,777)
TRER Administrative expenses (114,884) (148,142)
REWMERATEEM Increase in fair value of
investment property 5,640 6,612
PR Finance costs 9 (62,013) (52,997)
i NI Share of results of associates 15,689 33,689
FEAREFHERER Share of results of jointly
controlled entities 145,813 140,213
REEERZRERE Impairment loss recognised in
respect of goodwill — (7,284)
BRONAREHERER Reversal of impairment loss
2 BIEEE recognised in respect of
interest in a jointly
controlled entity 20 — 102,632
75t B i Profit before taxation 10 13,223 122,212
HiIE Taxation Il (11,318) (20,128)
REE s A Profit for the year 1,905 102,084
Hith 2 HKA - Other comprehensive income:
NERIERES Exchange differences arising
ZIERER on translation to
presentation currency 56,541 25,176
FRNE2HKALE Total comprehensive
income for the year 58,446 127,260

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

59



60

GE2HWER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE_T——Ff+-_A=+—HItFE
For The Year Ended 3| December 201 |

2011 2010
fit it FET FHET
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000

FRLATALESERHM - Profit for the year attributable to:
ARAERA Owners of the Company 11,472 96,065
eI Non-controlling interests (9,567) 6019
1,905 102,084

WTATEEZERARE Total comprehensive income
attributable to:

ARBERA Owners of the Company 64,921 119,618
S Non-controlling interests (6,475) 7,642
58,446 127,260
BREM-EX Earnings per share - Basic 14 HK cent 0.29 1l HK cent 24275l

FEMABRER (58) BRA 2011 &E3§]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-ZFE——FT=HA=1T—H8
At 31 December 201 |

2011 2010
Kt &t FET FHET
NOTE HK$°000 HK$'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
REME Investment property 15 37,680 30,972
ERN N E Property, plant and equipment 16 450,099 373,659
WEmE BEX Deposits paid for acquisition of
REAXMzRE property, plant and equipment 14,293 17,688
S Goodwill |7 4,903 4,903
BREE Intangible asset 18 69,842 —
ELEHRIBEE Deferred tax assets 30 3,985 5,022
E’\Hﬁﬁ EUNGIP Eo Interests in associates 19 370,566 323,960
HEZEH BB R Interests in jointly
controlled entities 20 1,272,882 1,222,069
THRITER Fixed bank deposits 21 — 11,996
2,224,250 1,990,269
REBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 22 469,638 129,931
8 5 K E i fE Yk Trade and other receivables 23 558,342 422,749
FEW RN E Amounts due from associates 24 45,856 3,457
JE I AL R 42 I B 88 3K Amounts due from jointly
controlled entities 25 161,795 80,880
EEWRITER Pledged bank deposits 26 22,606 32,644
EHRITER Fixed bank deposits 21 12,409 —
ROEFREAS Bank balances and cash 26 356,562 450,061
1,627,208 1,119,722
nEEE Current liabilities
25 &Ei\ﬁi”‘gﬁ? Trade and other payables 27 525,090 258,651
JRE -1 Bt i 12 A 3K Amounts due to associates 24 63,708 518
B #6 BY Government grants 31 249 240
e T IE Taxation payable 1,674 816
REEE Warranty provision 28 22,380 18,49 |
R—FRNEH 2 EX Borrowings - amount
due within one year 29 530,400 730,800
1,143,501 1,009,516
REBEEFRR Net current assets 483,707 110,206
EERERRBEE Total assets less current liabilities 2,707,957 2,100,475
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R=F——F+=H=1+—8
At 31 December 201 |

2011 2010
Ft it FET FHET
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
kRBAEE Non-current liabilities
R—FREIBZEK Borrowings - amount
due after one year 29 796,548 315,520
EREFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 30 19,188 17,979
B i BY Government grants 31 7,830 7,809
823,566 341,308
1,884,391 1,759,167
BEXRRHE Capital and reserves
R 7R Share capital 32 396,900 396,900
i Reserves 1,327,124 1,262,203
ARBIERARGES Equity attributable to
owners of the Company 1,724,024 1,659,103
JE 2 ) M A 25 Non-controlling interests 160,367 100,064
EmEE Total equity 1,884,391 1,759,167

HIREBIZ1T2E 2 iR &M MK - JyCESE  The consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 172 were approved
ER_FT—_F=ZA=F+HMIEEE®E ¥  and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2012

RATESERREE and are signed on its behalf by:
HITEF HITEF
Executive Director Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-_ZT——F+-HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

RDAREARE
Attributable to owners of the Company
{ES 3
Efif 2RER i i
BA BHEE REEE Property ERGE LERE  Acu Non-
Share  Special  Share revaluation Exchange  General — mulated BE controlling 3

capital  reserve premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total interests Total
Térn Thr TEx TEn  TEr TEr  TEr T TEr TEn
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO000  HKSOOO  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO000  HKS000

(it ) (Rt
(Note 1) (Note 2)

RZZ-Z£--H At | January 2010 396900 117554 2483141 139 146219 B0 (1635505 1532731 112066 164479
RER AT Profitfor the year - - - - - — %06 9606 6019 102,084
FEESIERREZENEE  Exchange diflrences aisig on

franslation o

presentation currency = = = - B = - B3 63 Bl
RERRENALE Total comprehensive income

for the year = = = - B3 — %065 119618 160 127260
WEATEEMEELLE Capial contribution from

non-contralling interests

of a subsidiary = = = = = = = —  HN0 M0
ENHBAREEHEEZRE  Dhidend paid to non-controling

interests of a subsidiary = = = = = = = — (4l (4l7e)
KENBARENER Non-controllng nterests arising

BEZEENIEES on the acquistion of nterest

in a subsidiry = = = = = = = = (579) (579)
WEATRREELSEY Changes in ownership

interest in & subsiciary - - - - - - 6,153 6,153 257 §010
HENBAARER Trensfer upon disposal

of subsidiaries = = = - (L0 = 1,705 = = =
HEWBLR R Disposal of nterests

in subsidiaries - - - - - - — — (03  (5034)
L2 Tranfer = = = = = 16391 (16391) = = =
HNZE-ZETZA=T-H At 31 December 2010 396900 117554 2483 4l 1399 168067 415 (14373) 1659103 100064 1,759,167
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

FATREARE
Attributable to owners of the Company
n% £33
Efifife 2RER Chid
BA HAEE REEE Property EXEE LERE  Acu Non-
Share  Special  Share revaluation Exchange  General mulated  HF controlng  £H
capital  reserve premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total  interests Total
Térn Thr Téx T TEx TEr  TEr T TEr TEn
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKS000
(At 1) (Rt
(Note 1) (Note 2)
REREN Profit for the year - - - - - — 4 1A (%) 190
FESSIERREZEREE  xchange diffrences arising
on translation to
presentation currency — — — - 34 — - 54 3090 56l
KERREYNALE Total comprefensive
income for the year — — — - 34 - 4 9 (647 58446
WEATEAMERLE Capttal contribution from
non-contralling nterests
of a subsidiary - - - - - - — — 719 T719%
ENMEATHENEERRE  Diidend paid to
non-contralling nterests
of a subsidiary = = = = = = = - PNy (N
2 Transler - - - - — (26 - - -
R-B-—f+A=1-H At 31 December 201 | %6300 117554 2483141 139 21506 42110 (15385%) 1724024 160367 1884391
ftet - Note:

1. AEEZFEHEEREARAEETRARESR
ARRIFMBAMBERRIERTRAEGE 25
RREASER-ANEENA+—BETE
AR T B E At R R 2 £ %5116,025,0007%8
=

2. ERRETEEENTEARLME (THE])
KB AR BENBEREFERR(NEREE
EBNEBES -

64 FEMXSEFRER (£E) BRAT | 2011 F#

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the
nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company and the
nominal amount of the issued share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by
the Company and the aggregate amount of HK$I16,025,000 transferred
from other reserves pursuant to the Group's reorganisation on || August
1997.

2. Included in general reserve is reserve fund of a subsidiary in the People’s

Republic of China (the “PRC") which can be used only to (i) make up prior

years' losses or (ii) expand production operations.
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RELENBLARERZER

Operating activities

Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Interest expenses
Share of results of associates
Share of results of jointly
controlled entities

Government grants recognised

Amortisation of an intangible asset

Depreciation of property, plant

and equipment

Gain on disposal of interest in an associate

Reversal of impairment loss recognised

in respect of interest
in a jointly controlled entity
Impairment loss recognised in
respect of goodwill
Gain arising on change in fair
value of investment property
Impairment losses recognised in

respect of trade receivables

Allowance for obsolete inventories

Reversal of amount due from
an associate

Unrealised profit in associate

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Gain on disposal of interest in
a subsidiary

Loss on deemed disposal of

interest in a subsidiary

zT & IE: ﬁ DL B '13):2
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE_F——F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

2011
Wit FER
NOTE HK$°000

13,223
(10,478)
62,013
(15,689)
(145,813)
(240)
1,996

27,935
(5,517)

(5,640)

10,381
1,479

1,223
7,184

587

2010
FAE T
HK$000
122212
(5419)
52,997
(33,689)

(140213)
(360)

30,536

(587)

(102,632)

7,284

(6612)

7,332
8,050

6,198

(3.162)

191
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

2011 2010
i3 FER FET
NOTE HK$°000 HK$'000
EECEDAKE Operating cash flows before movements
/ﬁbiﬁﬁmz in working capital (57,356) (57,874)
FEZEM Increase in inventories (340,929) (71,003)
B 5 RE th R 2 5 Increase in trade and other receivables (156,473) (109,336)
BHREMERRZEMORD) Increase (decrease) in trade
and other payables 197,569 (25,464)
REBEZEM Increase in warranty provision 3,462 6,459
FERT B & R R 2 B CRl ) Increase (decrease) in amounts
due to associates 63,190 (1,338)
JEMEE & R R k2 (3B ) A (Increase) decrease in amounts
due from associates (43,622) 209,126
AREEZRE Cash used in operations (334,159) (49,430)
ENAEHR Income taxes paid (8,103) (11716)
BRREEB RS FE Net cash used in operating
activities (342,262) (61,146)
REEH Investing activities
HEAZHERZBR Advance to a jointly controlled entity (90,126) (40,600)
BENE BELRB Purchase of property, plant
and equipment (78,852) (25,092)
REERRZRE Investments in associates (72,480) (23,016)
KENE  BER Deposits paid for acquisition of
REMXM RS property, plant and equipment (13,785) (71,686)
ANEERE Addition of prepaid lease payments - (58,064)
BRIEHEMBLAARERER Deemed disposal of a subsidiary, net
ReEEMER of cash and cash equivalent
disposed of - (8,925)
Wi A R HE Acquisition of additional interest
EREIMER in a jointly controlled entity - (3,198)
EHRRTHERZ () B (Increase) decrease in fixed
bank deposits (413) 136,204
BEAZHERERZKE Dividend received from a
jointly controlled entity 142,991 93,543
BBREERRTER Repayment of loan from a
jointly controlled entity 12,000 —

TEMABRER (£E) ARA

2011 F3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE _T——F+_A=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

2011 2010
i3 FER FET
NOTE HK$°000 HK$'000
BERELRBRZKE Release of pledged bank deposits 10,038 65,207
ERZHEEEEER Dividend received from associates 31,781 27,172
KERBEAAXNRER Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash
ReEEMER and cash equivalents acquired 35 - 8993
B MR B # B Government grants received — 8,409
HEMBLARMBERE Disposal of a subsidiary, net of
REEBNER cash and cash equivalents 36(a) (809) (1,878)
HEMERAMEHE Proceeds from disposal of associates 17,770 —
BIKH & Interest received 10,478 5419
HENE  BE Proceeds from disposal of property,
PESCTREE plant and equipment 1,298 1,601
REETH (R ELEZREFE Net cash (used in) from
investing activities (30,109) 114,089
MEED Financing activities
HEAER New loans raised 1,010,400 178,060
EEER Repayment of loans (765,852) (424,280)
BRFE Interest paid (62,013) (52,997)
MEBRAREEHERRLE Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders of a subsidiary 71,998 34,200
HEMBRABHER Partial disposal of interests
in subsidiaries - 8,010
METHME (MR E2RERE Net cash from (used in)
financing activities 254,533 (257,007)
ReRBEeSEBMRDFE Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents (117,838) (204,064)
NEEXZH P E Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes 24,339 10,512
FENRERBEEEN Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 450,061 643,613
FRZBRERASEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
(RITEBRRES) end of the year, representing
bank balances and cash 356,562 450,061
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

1.

TEMABRER (£E) ARA

—RAR

RRARBR—RRRAEHESEMKILZE
BAF  HROREBBEXZAER
B ([BERPT)) £« RARIZEEE
H’L A A] & Astrotech Group Limited
([Astrotech)) (—HRKBHBRES
AMALZAE) - FBEARRAE66.75%
Z ¥z o Astrotechh F Bl 8 3 X T B Al
HoEbr ([AEBT]) 2E%HE - FBIM A
BMEEERAR ([Fal) ZREEER
KSR AR AR ZHEERAF « B
AR NE RS BRFEARLNE
([FREI]) K 2 BB

ARBEMPERMAREBELTEEE
WHEBRNAFR LA ER— -

ARAZNEEERARYE - MM
BHRRAUNETZI - ESRA/ADA
RARAE  BORBRALED - AKX
HOREEREREE  ETEMA/AE
WENEE -

2011 F3R

. GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange"). Its immediate holding company
is Astrotech Group Limited (“Astrotech”), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands which holds 66.75% interest in the
Company. Astrotech is wholly owned by China Academy of Launch
Vehicle Technology (“CALT"). China Aerospace Science & Technology
Corporation (“CASC") is the ultimate holding company of the
Company via the immediate shareholding of CALT. Both CASC and
CALT are companies established in the People’'s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information to the

annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB") while
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"). The directors consider that HK$ is the appropriate
presentation currency since the Company is a public company with
the shares listed on the Stock Exchange where most of its investors

are located.
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HE-_ZT——F+-HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”)

In the current vyear, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA™).

Amendments to HKFRSs

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)

Amendments to HKAS 32

Amendments to HK(IFRIC) -
INT 14

HK(IFRIC) - INT 19

Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2010

Related party disclosures

Classification of rights issues

Prepayments of a minimum

funding requirement

Extinguishing financial liabilities

with equity instruments

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised

HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the

Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and

prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements.
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REMBHEKME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

2. ERHEREETEEM 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

BHREEAN([FEMBR HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
HEA]) @ STANDARDS (“HKFRS”) (Continued)
HFEGERB24MAEATHE] (= HKAS 24 Related party disclosures (as revised in 2009)
BT NEFE)

BEAEHENEUR (ZETNFLE HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has been revised on the following two
FDEE TATMIEER] : (BB &E aspects: (a) HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has changed the definition
AlE245% (ZETNFREF) EERTA of a related party and (b) HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) introduces a
MEAEALZESR - R(O)FEGTER partial exemption from the disclosure requirements for government-
L2245 (ZZETNF LB B3I AR related entities.

REBRER HNEERR -

AARARE ﬂﬁ BARABHERFNEEE The Company and its subsidiaries are government-related entities. In
B-REE-_T-TF+-_A=1+—H its annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
EFEBZZE Eﬂ%#ﬁ% AEEERE December 2010, the Group had applied early the partial exemption
FEREHMFEFAERIBORERS - from the disclosure requirements for government-related entities. In
RAEEASEERERIGEREES the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the revised
AHERIE24% (CTETNFRER) HA definition of a related party as set out in HKAS 24 (as revised in
BALTZEBEBIITEE  ABURBUEE 2009), which resulted in the identification of related parties that
B RBAIRBEALERARN RSB E were not identified as related parties under the previous standard.
N

BEAGHERF 4R (ZF YJLE &g
FRTEEPER - EAES AR
2455 (=& yhii«‘ﬂkﬂ)ﬂﬁgl 2k
ATZBEBIBERNZE -

§

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) requires retrospective application. The
application of HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has had no significant

impact on the Group's related party disclosures.

F+Ea+ﬁ”d§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE—_FT——F+-_F=+—HIEF
. ERFHBEREETEEM
BH&EER ([HFARER
HEE|]) @)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”’) (Continued)

ERHEMRENHHITREETES
MBREER

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

AEEYERAERTHERMERKE
B RBETBEMBREER -

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

BARBRE REEE- Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures - Transfers of
ERE TR HECREE' financial assets!
CHES

BEEMBH®E BEEE- Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures - Offsetting financial
ERE T BiHeREE assets and financial liabilities?
CHED), &A=

BEREUMBRE ERUMBRE Amendments to HKFRS 7 Mandatory effective date of
ZR BT R AR B 2 and HKFRS 9 HKFRS 9 and transition
BEEMBHRE 58 I 14 A4 2B H disclosures?
R F 95K eV
CHEN,

BAUBRE SR A3 HKFRS 9 Financial instruments’
A R 5 95%

BEAMBHRE fRa R R? HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial
R 51057 statements?

BEEMBH®E BE R HKFRS | | Joint arrangements?
R/ E 1157

BEAMBHRE BENEAME S HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in
R 5125 Z K2 other entities’

BARBRE DRI EFE? HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement?
R 5135

BA G ER HizmkA Amendments to HKAS | Presentation of items of
F15% (BEIAK) HEZE2®W® other comprehensive income®

-l EERRIA - Y Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax - Recovery
F12% (BFTAR) HBEE! of underlying assets’

EE G LR & B 1@ H2 HKAS 19 (as revised in 201 1) Employee benefits?
2195
(ZF——%
RERT)

EE G LR {875 B4 5 3R 2 HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)  Separate financial statements?
FE27%
(Z2——%
RERT)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 3| December 201 |

2. EH#HBEREEBITEEY
B EER ([HFARER
HEEH]) @

EFEMHERRENHFHIREETER

MBS A ()

FERMEN  RBELAAR
#5285 BELEZ
(=2——% 4
@)

FEiEN  EHOWAE

F32% (BRIAX) REBARS
EE (B % BEXBESEE
HEEAERE P B R R

ZE®) - B 72
ZEE205%

TR IE——FLA-HRIZRRARZF
EHRER -

2 RZE-ZH-H-HIZEKRKRZF
EHRER -

R E-RE-H-BIZERKRZF
EHRER -

¢ O RZE-_F-F-BARZERHABZF
EHRER -

S RIBE-——FLA-HRIZERRARZF
EHRER -

¢ R-E-ME-H-HHZERKRZF
EHRER -

FRMBHEEARSRIEMIA

ERMBHREENESREMTA] (R
“TTNFED) SESREES BEH
BIHMRTE - BRMBRSERE IR
(Z2-ZFLEF) BRYSRAED
BRAERICEERZRTE °

72 FEMXERER (£8) BRAR | 2011 F3k

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”’) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

(Continued)
HKAS 28 (as revised in 201 1) Investments in associates

and joint ventures?
Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets

and financial liabilities®
HK(IFRIC) - INT 20 Stripping costs in the production

phase of a surface mine?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | July 201 1.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2013.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2015.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2012.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | July 2012.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2014.

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 amended
in 2010 includes the requirements for the classification and

measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition.
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HE-_ZT——F+-HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”’) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

*  HKFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement” to be subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair values at the end

of subsequent reporting periods.

* The most significant effect of HKFRS 9 regarding the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities relates to
the presentation of changes in the fair value of a financial liability
(designated as at fair value through profit or loss) attributable to

changes in the credit risk of that liability.

Based on the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities as at
31 December 201 |, the directors anticipate that the application
of HKFRS 9 is not likely to have significant impact on the

Group's consolidated financial statements.
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HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 3| December 201 |

2. ERHEREETEEM 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

B EER ([HFARER
HEEH]) @
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WEZHIREBTFEMBRERR
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B BEEEMBRESENF105
BEMBHREEREE  BFENBR
HREAFE12% BAGERFE275 (=
T——FRE) REBEE G ERF 285
(ZE——F&1&5]) °

ZRBREYNZTEREHRAMT o

BRMBREENF10RMAT LG
RRIE 275 476 RAERI B # WK M
BEMBRREMEIBONARETERE
FRHEEE-RBE12R[HFE —FHKA
MER| BEMBHRELERF10HRES
BHEZHER  EFERE=ELE:
()EEEFREHR : (b )Q/,\&ﬁﬂ
KREEMBFHO R AEREN
(c)RE & Fﬁﬁi\xﬁxﬁﬂ%\Z%ﬁuwa
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10 ERERBER CEE T AMAFA
5l e

FEMABRER (58) BRA 2011 &E3§]

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”’) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs on consolidation, joint

arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including HKFRS
[0, HKFRS I'l, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 201 1) and HKAS
28 (as revised in 201 1).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated and
separate financial statements” that deal with consolidated financial
statements and HK(SIC) - INT 12 “Consolidation - Special purpose
entities”. HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of control that contains
three elements: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of
the investor's returns. Extensive guidance has been added in HKFRS

|0 to deal with complex scenarios.
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”’) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS || replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in joint ventures” and
HK(SIC) - INT 13 “Jointly controlled entities - Non-monetary
contributions by venturers”. HKFRS |'| deals with how a joint
arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control should
be classified. Under HKFRS [, joint arrangements are classified as
joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights and
obligations of the parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under
HKAS 31, there are three types of joint arrangements: jointly
controlled entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled
operations.

In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS || are required to be
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, whereas jointly
controlled entities under HKAS 31 can be accounted for using the
equity method of accounting or proportionate accounting.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that
have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/or
unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the
current standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after | January 201 3. Earlier application is permitted provided that all
of these five standards are applied early at the same time.

The directors anticipate that these five standards will be adopted in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning | January 2013 and that the application of these five
standards is not likely to have significant impact on amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements.
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HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”’) (Continued)

HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The
standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value, and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The
scope of HKFRS |3 is broad; it applies to both financial instrument
items and non-financial instrument items for which other HKFRSs
require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair
value measurements, except in specified circumstances. In general,
the disclosure requirements in HKFRS |3 are more extensive than
those in the current standards. For example, quantitative and
qualitative disclosures based on the three-level fair value hierarchy
currently required for financial instruments only under HKFRS 7
“Financial instruments: Disclosures” will be extended by HKFRS 13 to

cover all assets and liabilities within its scope.

HKFRS I3 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after |

January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 13 will be adopted in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning | January 2013 and that the application of the new
Standard will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements, but will result in more extensive disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements.
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. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”’) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS | Presentation of items of other
comprehensive income

The amendments to HKAS | retain the option to present profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in either a single statement or
in two separate but consecutive statements. However, the
amendments to HKAS | require additional disclosures to be made in
the other comprehensive income section such that items of other
comprehensive income are grouped into two categories: (a) items
that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b)
items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when
specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of other
comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same basis.
The amendments to HKAS | are effective for the Group for annual
period beginning on | January 2013. The presentation of items of
other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly when the
amendments are applied in the future accounting periods.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax - Recovery of
underlying assets

The amendments to HKAS 12 provide an exception to the general
principles in HKAS 12 that the measurement of deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities should reflect the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the entity expects to
recover the carrying amount of an asset. Specifically, under the
amendments, investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model in accordance with HKAS 40 “Investment property” are
presumed to be recovered through sale for the purposes of
measuring deferred taxes, unless the presumption is rebutted in
certain circumstances. The amendments to HKAS |2 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after | January 2012. The directors
anticipate that the application of the amendments to HKAS |2 may
have a significant impact on deferred tax recognised for investment
properties located in the PRC that are measured using the fair value
model. If the presumption under the amendments is not rebutted,
the deferred tax liability relating to the revaluation of investment
properties may increase as the land appreciation tax rate of the PRC
is higher than the tax rate currently used by the Group to calculate
the deferred tax recognised for investment properties.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis except for the investment property, which is
measured at fair value, as explained in accounting policies set out
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so

as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of

disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those

used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately

from the Group's equity therein.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-

controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a

deficit balance (effective from | January 2010 onwards).

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises the
assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their
carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (i) derecognises
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including any
components of other comprehensive income attributable to them),
and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest,
with any resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in
profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets of the
subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values and the
related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS
39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement” or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate or a jointly controlled entity.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date, except that:

+ deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 “Income taxes” and HKAS 19
“Employee benefits” respectively;

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess

is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets or
liabilities. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-

by-transaction basis.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i. e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented separately in

the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that

are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently whenever there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets of
the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed

in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount

of profit or loss on disposal.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in
these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, interests in associates are
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost or at fair value for interests retained in former subsidiaries
upon the Group losing control and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share of losses is
provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount

of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of
acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or

loss.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group losing
significant influence over that associate, any retained investment is
measured at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance
with HKAS 39.The difference between the previous carrying amount
of the associate attributable to the retained interest and its fair value
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)

when it loses significant influence over that associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the Group' consolidated financial statements only to the extent of

interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a
separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments
in jointly controlled entities are initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the jointly controlled entities. When
the Group's share of losses of a jointly controlled entity equals or
exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the jointly controlled entity), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that

jointly controlled entity.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of a jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of
acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or

loss.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in a jointly controlled entity. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of
assets” as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying
amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the

recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

Upon disposal of a jointly controlled entity that results in the Group
losing joint control over that jointly controlled entity, any retained
investment is measured at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in
accordance with HKAS 39. The difference between the previous
carrying amount of the jointly controlled entity attributable to the
retained interest and its fair value is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the jointly controlled entity. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that jointly controlled
entity on the same basis as would be required if that jointly
controlled entities had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that jointly controlled entity would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when it loses joint control

over that jointly controlled entity.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the Group’ consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled

entity that are not related to the Group.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts

and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods are recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed, at which time all the following

conditions are satisfied:

* the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and

rewards of ownership of the goods;

* the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective

control over the goods sold;
* the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

* it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the

transaction will flow to the Group; and

* the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue from sales of electricity are recognised when electricity has
been delivered.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts though the expected life of the financial asset to

that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to

the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).



me MR mRMNE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EEEEBR @)

ME - BERRE

BREHETH (D BERRERE) 2Y
£ BERRBEEXFTHREER R
ERZABERE (WA) N B BN
AR °

HEDEBRYE  BERKEZMEE
AE A FE A A B AN 58 B B AR
ERhEAERFR RREERER
R EAFEY  FNREERNENE
REREMREN Bt 2ENEHF
ERBHEEAR -

NE - BERRBBREDNHERLE
BORECERZEERTEELERERR
ENSRIUEER - NX - BERK

HEREREELZBRRHEEMSRK
BREEREECEZEBER  LNER
RERA

REME

REMEERUTEE R HEREE
MEBZWE -

BRENMERNTENERA (BRENE
BRELAX)FE - ROTHEREK - RE
METIRBAFERARERFER
E - -REMERAVFEEDMES 2 W
ZERFATHBBELRANZES -

REMEFRLERRERBNE BT
HERIBRPLERENERBELIFR
AREER SR ILRER - BERILHE
RAELEZEMBRRIER REEMRE
FRFREBREREEZEAE) IR
BERIEER PN ARSE -

BE_F——F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land (classified as
finance leases) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the

carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for

capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values using the fair
value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in

which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in

which the item is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives are
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated

impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the

period in which it is incurred.



e B R M E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EEBEHER @

kHBZAMREREERERR

REREMERE  XEEEHEFT
FEBVEECRAENEERS A IR
BFEBTZEEERIBERR © f#h
REMPBR - ARFAIRESE  IE
FREEREE (NEF) - B KR
ATEBEEMA RESREE - AIAKE
A BEEMBRSELEUNTKNDE
BoMORNEERFENREETHE
EARREETRAEEM@AREE
EEN - INEMLBRTRERIEER
REELEUNTNEE  MAREE
AEUNABERBEN P KARETHE
EO

Al EEBARFEREHEKARE
REEMETZRSE - NATREERE
B A RRRSRETARAEER
RPRERME ZBRRERREFT
SRR EERREREERERAR
(BT E - AR REMHAEL

B%) -

WEE (XREELEN) KBS HE
AP REREE  WEE (RRTE
REf) cREEGERIZETREE
BoREBESRRNERER

EREFENERERD  ZRBEELEK
HEMENEELET Gt zAkE S
BRI REE NS BA MK AR
FEZREEERABEBRAEE
AR E o 6 {285 18 18 [ J5 B B 70 45 21 B

o
17
. ©

BE _T——F+_A=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other

than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future

cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that

affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or

part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and
deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each
element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases, in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance

lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching

to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the related
assets. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they

become receivable.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service

entitling them to the contributions.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributed to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.
The accounting policies adopted in respect of loans and receivables

are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a

shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt

instruments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, amounts due from jointly controlled
entities, amounts due from associates, bank balances and cash, fixed
bank deposits and pledged bank deposits) are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on

financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have

been affected.
Objective evidence of impairment could include:

* significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

*  breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or

principal payments; or

* it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy

or financial re-organisation.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period of 90 days, observable changes in national or local

economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest

rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, amounts due from jointly controlled entities and
amounts due from associates, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When trade receivables are considered uncollectible, they are
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of

amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the

impairment not been recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual

interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, o, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts due
to associates and borrowings are subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised directly in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at
the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of the money is material).



e B R M E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EEEEBR @)

o

ZEIBRBERECER)RRHAMZE
ZEZXAR REEHZER - K8
B ERBERANRERAZIEERS
BB - BAFEAIMNEARZIEER
BRAREEATEERAZEXREHA
B SNEELKAGEZHFERAR
AIATEHARE -

EXHERERERRAENRREEL
ZERZBDRES 2 BEHERREHM
HER - URFEIEKZFERRBE
HBBEL CENZRNZHABE AR
o EEHREEENEM2AKER
EANGAERCFERAEBELZE
AEREN  ERERT  EXZEN
BEEREMEZEKEARER o

REJGAMBREMNS  FREUSZ
BEEERCNEER (BRI JK
CEBNBEERBERRBENEE

BANFIXRERAEEZ 25 EE (A
BIL) MESEZRARRZAEARER
THEXKRE  EHBNEXEZRE
AlBRON - RZBERT  IRAXSEH
ZEEEER -FIEACVERZE (IE)
BRAHMEZERA  YRESZTZE
AEEEANRT (BERDRE L
MHRER) o

BE _T——F+_A=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange differences are

also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the group entities which are stated at
functional currency of the respective group entity other than Hong
Kong dollars are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interest as

appropriate).
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is

reclassified to profit or loss.

Additionally, on disposal of group entities which has the same
functional currency as the Company, the exchange differences arising
on translation to presentation currency are transferred directly to

accumulated losses.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

The key assumption concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period, are

discussed below.

Estimated impairment of jointly controlled entities

Determining impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss
recognised in respect of interests in jointly controlled entities require
estimation of their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount is
determined from value in use calculation by estimating the Group’s
share of the present value of the estimated future cash flows
expected to be generated by the jointly controlled entities, using
discount rates which reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risk specific to the jointly controlled entities.
As at 3| December 201 |, the carrying amounts of interests in jointly
controlled entities are HK$1,272,882,000 (2010: HK$1,222,069,000).
Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note
20.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has
been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2011, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$4,903,000 (2010:
HK$4,903,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note |7.
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. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 3| December
2011, the carrying amount of trade receivables is HK$ 169,502,000
(2010: HK$177,392,000), net of allowance for doubtful debts of

T —ZF : 147,185,000 5) ) ° HK$70,143,000 (2010: HK$147,185,000).
BEH . TURNOVER
AEBRARNFENEREIMMAT ¢ An analysis of the Group's turnover for the year is as follows:
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$:000
BEmHE Sales of goods 181,077 383,026
HEREREGES Sales of electricity from operation
ZEN of wind power field 28,423 32,228
HER N EEHBEmS Sales of wind energy related products 196,785 264,745
PR 75 1A Revenue from services — 18,084
406,285 698,083

2011 &E3§]
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6. FEHEH 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
MARTEFE (NIELERKE) 2 Information reported to the Board of Directors of the Company,
W2EX  BMANRANEY R MR being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
BeRBEANEBLIE  EMOKER resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
WD RERE - on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
ARmME ARERBEENBRSEE Specifically, the Group's operating and reportable segments under
%8 Sﬁzi‘“ S RBESBENT HKFRS 8 are as follows:
Rh#EE — HERNZEEBEESR Wind Energy Related Products —  Manufacture and sales of
MEER ZREREE wind energy related products
E%EE - HERBRBES Operation of Wind Farm —  Sales of electricity from
ZEN operation of wind
power field
MLIEH - RERSHTBEBREH REPM Products —  Manufacture and distribution
E of elevator motors
MHES - (LINHES Trading of Materials —  Trading of chemical materials
BEAE®K — HE - ZERIHEHBA Telecommunication Business —  Development, manufacture
Em BREXBREGE and distribution of
mEERG RER communication products,
[ ITS, broadband systems,

equipment and accessories

EREERENEZEN - Information regarding these segments is presented below.
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6. P EEH ») 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
TERRRES Segment revenue and results
AEBRBERBENEZERRRR The following is an analysis of the Group's turnover and results by
BEoMMT : operating and reportable segment.

B2 —-Ff+-RA=1t-BLHFE For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BH%E
BBER BHEE fit IR
Wind Energy Operation ERER HHES Tele-
Related of Wind REPM Trading of communication e
Products Farm Products Materials Business  Consolidated
Téx Téx Fiéx Féx Féx Tiéx
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
gxE TURNOVER
HHE External sales 196,785 28,423 28,953 106,768 45,356 406,285
ES RESULT
FREE Segment result (58,234) 39,026 (13,836) 124 (7,426) (39,746)
ABAERARR Unallocated corporate expenses (46,101)
AEABEMMA Unallocated other income 9,085
HHHA Finance costs (62,013)
BRENEATEEM Increase in fair value of
investment property 5,640
ERARZHEREE  Share of results of jointly
controlled entities 146,358
R A&H Profit before taxation 13,123

106 FEMXERER (£E) ARA 2011 &3]
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010

BNRE
RBER R5EE fit EEES
Wind Energy Operation ERER HHEZ Tele-
Related of Wind REPM Trading of communication &&
Products Farm Products Materials Business  Consolidated
TAT TEL TiEn TiET TAT TAT
HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$:000
LEE TURNOVER
B EE External sales 264,745 32028 525771 272551 75982 698,083
ES | RESULT
HRZE Segment result (30583) 63899 (22051) 2166 (43882) (30451)
ABARARER Unallocated corporate expenses (56,935)
AESREBAA Unallocated other income 74719
HBRA Finance costs (52,997)
REMEATFEEN  Increase in fair value of
Investment property 6,612
EBARENER Reversal of impairment loss
A HERRED recognised in respect of interest
in @ jointly controlled entity 102,632
EUEXRENEEEE  Share of results of jointly
controlled entities 145872
WL AR A Profit before taxation 122212
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. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Segment results represent the profit before taxation earned or
incurred by each segment, excluding finance costs, fair value gain on
investment property, reversal of impairment loss in respect of
interest in a jointly controlled entity, share of results of jointly
controlled entities which cannot be allocated, unallocated other
income and corporate expenses such as central administration costs
and directors’ salaries. Share of profit of associates of HK$ 15,689,000
(2010: HK$33,689,000) and share of loss of jointly controlled entities
of HK$545,000 (2010: HK$5,659,000) were allocated to reportable
segments. This is the measure reported to the Group's Executive
Directors for the purpose of resources allocation and assessment of

segment performance.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by

D reportable segment.
R=B-——-F+=A=+—-H At 31 December 201 |
Bh%E
RBER RFEE #t ERER
Wind Energy ~ Operation ERER HHES Tele-
Related of Wind REPM Trading of communication &e
Products Farm Products Materials Business  Consolidated
TR TR TR TEn TR TR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
gE ASSETS
HERE Segment assets 1,487,141 581,491 42,208 3411 54,359 2,168,610
REREH Interests in jointly
E?’*Zﬁéﬁ controlled entities 1,202,977
AEARLRAEE Unallocated corporate assefs 479,871
FeEEGE Consolidated total assets 3,851,458
af LIABILITIES
HEER Segment liabllties 878,786 86,962 13,810 1,764 25,173 1,012,495
AEARRAAR Unallocated corporate liabilities 954,572
GRafLE Consolidated total liabilities 1,967,067
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 December 2010

BENRE
RBER B5EE #it LEES
Wind Energy ~ Operation ERER HHES Tele-
Related of Wind REPM Trading of communication &8
Products Farm Products Materials Business  Consolidated
T Tix Ti#x Tir T TiAx
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
BE ASSETS
PRAE Segment assets 782,602 500447 58043 60597 77617 1,479,306
RERZH Interests in jointly
BB controlled entities 1,147,150
AEARRAEE Unallocated corporate assets 483535
GRBELE Consolidated total assets 3109991
Bf LIABILITIES
ARAE Segment liabilities 305,297 95,206 15,886 98,325 46400 561,114
AEHBLAARE Unallocated corporate liabilties 789,710
LRafEEE Consolidated total liabilities [ 350,824
REESBBERRAESBERER For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:
s BRAWSEMNARZEHNERZHE  all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than

@ REMEREMEREE (R
RIRITHESBRRSEN) - MEEE

HoEER

%ﬁﬁ B R 17

R T AN EEREDE - R

s BRAANPEZETEERELHE .
o FTBEEBESIRERESE -
110 FEMXERER (£8) BREA 2011 5

interests in jointly controlled entities which cannot be allocated,
investment property, and other financial assets that comprise of
mainly bank balances and cash. Goodwill is allocated to

reportable segments as described in note |17; and

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
certain borrowings which cannot be allocated and deferred tax
liabilities.
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AREFESTEN  Amounts included in the

HERAAPEE  measure of segment profit

LEE: or loss or segment assets:
ER Addition of property,

RBAE plant and equipment
ER Depreciation of property,

REiE plant and equipment
AERRE Allowance for doubtful debts
REFLER Allowance for obsolete

Inventories

RENZ KR Loss on disposal of property,

RREER plant and equipment

REERAZER  Interests in associates
RERE Interests in jointly

ERER controlled entities
EERERF Share of (loss) profit

(B51R) &7 of associates

B AR Share of (loss) profit of

£ (58) BN jointly controlled entities

BA%E
REER
Wind Energy
Related
Products
TR
HK$’000

94,468

13,176

19

71,282

8,865

(1,571)

(6,347)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

At 31 December 2011

R5EE Bt ERES
Operation ERER HHES Tele-
of Wind REPM Trading of communication
Farm Products Materials Business
TR TEn TEn TEn
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
114 345 - 941
12,491 1,785 - 2,999
- 9,653 - 128

- - - 1,479

5 | - 562
297,541 - - 1,743
61,040 - - -
20,296 - - (3,036)
5,802 - - -

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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TR
HK$°000

96,540

30,923
10,381
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5,689
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6. FEHEEFR » 6
HibEHEH (8)
R-ZE-2F+-A=+—H

BH%E
BRER
Wind Energy
Related
Products
TAT
HK$000

BREHEADEN Amounts included in the

ABRANDEE measure of segment profit

LEB: or loss or segment assets:

0% BER Addition of property, plant

RBAE and equipment 14,083
nx BER Depreciation of property,

REiE plant and equipment 10,260
RERE Allowance for doubtful debts —
REFSER Allowance for obsolete

Inventories -
RENZ KR Loss on disposal of property,

RRREER plant and equipment )
RBERAZER Interests in associates 93403
AR Interests in jointly

ERER controlled entities 14,698
RERRDL [mpairment loss recognised

HEER in respect of goodwil —
EERELT Share of profit (oss) of

& (1) associates —
B AR Share of (loss) profit of

B (BR)EN jointly controlled entities ~ (13,240)

TEMABRER (£E) ARA

2011 &E3§]

Other segment information (Continued)

At 31 December 2010

E5EE
Operation
of Wind
Farm
TER
HK$1000

8,684

12,114

216,587

60221

35263

7581

ft
ERER
REPM
Products
AT
HK$'000

1,705
7280

7,284

EEES

HHES Tele-
Trading of communication
Business
AT
HK$'000

Materials
Tén
HK$'000

= 9444

= 5673

= 8,050

= 6,19

= 13970

- (1574)

. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

AEAE
Unallocated
AT
HK$'000

78

784

147,150

145872

&&
Consolidated
TEL
HK$'000

32469

30536
7332

8,050

6,198

323960

1222069

7,184

33,689

140213
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REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT——F+-HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

of the PRC.

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and other regions

(i) The Group's revenue from external customers are detailed

T below:
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
A E 3[R Other regions of the PRC 378,153 676,293
N Hong Kong 4,630 924
E3e United States of America 16,250 17,690
Hth Others 7,252 3,176
406,285 698,083

REENENES BN AEBER
BEE(SRTARN BHOAR

(i) Information about the Group's non-current assets (excluding

financial instruments) by geographical location of the assets are

HBMT detailed below:
FRBEEREE
Carrying amount
of non-current assets
2011 2010
THET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fh B A 3 [ Other regions of the PRC 2,219,715 1,922,963
& Hong Kong 4,535 55310
2,224,250 [,978,273

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 3| December 201 |

6. 7 HEEH @)

FREEEFEH

ERBATKEEXBI0%0FF R
EEEZEBNOT

. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenues from customers of the corresponding years contributing

over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows:

2011 2010
FET TFET
HK$°000 HK$:000
BEEA Customer A 115,385 N/A?
= F B2 Customer B? 106,768 265,048
ZEC Customer C! 73,112 222,265
T RNEERBEREER Revenue from Wind Energy Related Products

2 MHESZEER

S HEEXENASEREXEARAHE
B10% - Bt - FERPREATER
(IN/AL) ©

FEMABRER (58) BRA 2011 &E3§]

Revenue from Trading of Materials

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
sales of the Group, thus, disclosure for the specific customers is not

applicable ("N/A").
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HE-_ZT——F+-HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

. HipWr A 7. OTHER INCOME
2011 2010
FET TFET
HK$’000 HK$'000
H e A B 4% Other income comprises:
A TN Clean Development Mechanism income 5,638 7,722
I 46 Bl (P 2E) Government grants (Note) 2,152 35,174
e WA Rental income 1,443 1315
HEWA Interest income
—RITHE 5 - bank balances 3,464 3,842
~KBTHERAEFNEE 2B - advance to a jointly controlled entity 7,014 1,577
ff &t Note:
AR 2 €5 32,248,0008 T ARE Included in government grants was an amount of HK$32,248,000,
BR-_Z-ZFEHEBNRAR TEEER representing subsidies granted to the Group in 2010 by the PRC
BEBRES  RESBERENEETER governmental authorities to encourage the development of the wind energy
AEERBEL2EASHARENERER 2 & industry and the Group’s continuous involvement in developing the
° £%240,000% T (ZZ—Z 4 : 360,000 economic zones which the Group is operating in. An amount of HK$240,000
7%75) RPEBUR, BEARBENE  BER (2010: HK$360,000) represents subsidies granted to the Group by the PRC
BB (ME3METAEB 2D - A5 government/authorities for the purpose of financing the acquisition of
1,912,000/ 7T (ZF—F4 : 2,566,000/ 7T) property, plant and equipment (note 31). The remaining HK$,912,000
APEREEEREERRERTAER 2B (2010: HK$2,566,000) represents subsidies granted to the Group by PRC
By o tax authorities on Value Added Tax reduction.
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |

8. Hittlr &= & &518 8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HEMB AR W Gain on disposal of interest in a subsidiary — 3,162
HEBE QR WS Gain on disposal of interest in an associate 5,517 587
BREBEZIRKRZ Impairment losses recognised in

REER respect of trade receivables (10,381) (7,332)

BEEE AR 2 Reversal of fully impaired receivable
1B e IR IR from an associate 1,223 —
HEWE - BERHZEZEE Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (587) (6,198)
EHEREN SRR Net exchange loss recognised (834) (2,286)

RIELEMB L AR Loss on deemed disposal of interest
ZEE in a subsidiary - (191
(5,062) (12,258)

9. A 9. FINANCE COSTS
2011 2010
FET T
HK$°000 HK$:000
FIREMERMEXH : Interest on bank and other loans:

—ARLFENBEER - wholly repayable within five years 57,207 48,140
—TEARLERABHER - not wholly repayable within five years 4,806 4,857
62,013 52,997

116 FEMXERER (£8) BREA 2011 5
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10.%1 A1 it F1 10.PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
AERENERHR Profit before taxation has been
THREERER : arrived at after charging:
EEH & Directors’ emoluments 5,860 3991
HiM B TRA Other staff costs 42,244 56,303
H ity & B R IKAE A Other staff's retirement benefits
FrEl scheme contributions 4,778 5014
52,882 65,308
% & A B & Auditor's remuneration 3,000 2,900
B EEHH Amortisation of an intangible asset 1,996 —
BRARAXZFEKE Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
(ERREFERB (including allowance for obsolete inventories of
1,479,000 L (ZE—ZF : HK$1,479,000 (2010: HK$8,050,000)) 356,182 657,995
8,050,000/ 7T.) )
M¥k BERRBZFE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 30,923 30,536
B RNEFEERLZEH Less: Amounts capitalised in inventory (2,988) —
27,935 30,536
BRI RBT 2 LE Minimum lease payments under operating leases
HOZENFRERE in respect of land and buildings 6,081 9,438
f 3 ¢ Research and development expenses 7,728 6,818

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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TEMABRER (£E) ARA

For the year ended 31 December 201 |

I8 I 1.TAXATION
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$:000
AEEHEAX LA Tax charge for the year comprises:
HECEMEHAFE PRC Enterprise Income Tax 9,103 17,197
BT IE X M (B EE30) Deferred tax charge (Note 30) 2,215 2,931
1,318 20,128
ARG B IE 3% M B PR B A O M 2 1 BR 40 The reconciliation of tax charge for the year to the profit before
D taxation is as follows:
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BR %4 A1 4 7 Profit before taxation 13,223 122,212
BHRBECEMEHAE25%  Tax charge at PRC Enterprise Income
ZBEZ N Tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) 3,306 30,553
(ZF—F4F : 25%)
FE(L Bt & 1 A Share of results of associates and jointly
RERZEHERES controlled entities (40,376) (43,476)
FRB A MBREX Tax effect of expenses not deductible
ZHERE for tax purpose 11,560 10,462
RS TR A MR Tax effect of deductible temporary
BEREZE2HETE differences not recognised 2,880 3,845
i ﬁf%$7§§%ﬁﬁ’l Tax effect of income not taxable
WAZRB R E for tax purpose (4,842) (40,885)
AREREELIRBETE Tax effect of losses not recognised 26,972 50,455
B A LA REHR 2TMIEEE  Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised 3) (2,264)
AEHEERETE Tax effect of temporary differences
Pt /88 2 R A B attributable to undistributed profits
ERINBRE of PRC subsidiaries 2,986 9,302
EEMBARELEERR  Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
MEARIZ TRANEZE operating in other jurisdictions 9,776 3,134
BT ERE Effect of tax concessions/exemptions granted
BREER, BezyE to a subsidiary in the PRC (941) (998)
REERIBZH Tax charge for the year 11,318 20,128

2011 F3R
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HE-_ZT——F+-HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

118518 @) I 1.TAXATION (Continued)
A AN S B M F A I 4 AR B A No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
WA R REBMER - has no assessable profit for both years.
BB EAREIMBEAERESHE([1 Under the Law of the People's Republic of China on Enterprise
EEBE REEMBREAERA Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the
Bl AEMBLRARZHEE —TTN\F EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from | January
—A—BRKBR25% 2008 onwards.
BRETPBEABZEZERAD  AEEHD Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, one of the
—HFENEARIE ST+ F (A& Company's PRC subsidiaries is exempted from PRC income tax for
BMNFE) EEMERREPBERMEHR two years starting from year 2007, which was their first profit-making
W& =FEL50% o year, followed by a 50% reduction for the next three years.
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NREETkESENE 12.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS
(a) E= (a) Directors
ENKEMAL(ZT—FTF : +— The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2010:
f)E=EZazMemT : eleven) directors were as follows:
2011 2010
EfpMe A
Other emoluments Other emoluments
HER RAEA #ek RIRE
BB g [:E Ef A R[5
Salaries  Retirement Salaries  Retirement
and benefits and benefits
Name of e other scheme &3 e other scheme @5
EEftg director Fees benefits contributions Total Fees benefits  contributions Total

Thxn TAx Thx Thxn TEL TER TEL TEL
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BHE Han Shuwang - 1,661 - 1,661 — 1570 — 1,570
IER Wang Xiaodong - 1,495 12 1,507 = 1245 12 57
HE Zang Wei - 1,246 - 1,246 — 408 — 408
IHE Wang Lijun - 996 - 996 = 306 = 306
R Wu Jiang* - - - - = - — _
EAL* Tang Guohong* - - - - — - — =
S Li Guang - - - - - - - —
ey Fang Shi - - - - ~ _ _ _
Ik Wang Dechen 150 - - 150 150 — — 150
BER Kan Lai Kuen, Alice 150 - - 150 150 = = 150
RER Gordon Ng 150 - - 150 150 — — 150
450 5,398 12 5,860 450 3529 12 391
* REBFEREE-_T-ZTET- *  These directors resigned during the year ended 3| December
A=+—RILFERNEE - 2010.
BEXVENBE_T——%+-A No directors waived any emoluments in the year ended 3|
=tT-HEFERELAME (ZF December 2011 (2010: nil).
—ZTFE) -
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1NEERESME ») 12.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) EfimEEHMENAL (b) Five highest paid individuals
LfumzEFMERNA T BEEAG (= The five highest paid individuals included four (2010: two)
T-TF W) EF - HHB— directors. The emoluments of the remaining one (2010: three)
(Z2—2F : =) K= FMESR highest paid individuals were as follows:
ATzMEmT :
2011 2010
FET FE T
HK$’000 HK$:000
HehHEMEF Salaries and other benefits 996 2,681
MEAZFATFL— (ZE—F The aggregate emoluments paid to each of the above one
F D) RSFMENALZES (2010: three) highest paid individuals for both years did not
#8 %7 B N & 8 18 1,000,000/ 7T © exceed HK$1,000,000.
13.12 2 13.DIVIDEND
BE_Z——F+T_A=+—HLI#%F No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 3l
B A% B R R %Sk Bk B E AR December 201 |, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end
B B ET AR DR IR R B of the reporting period (2010: Nil).

EARE(ZE—FF : &)

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2011

121



122

e B R M A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE_ZT——F+-_HA=+—HIFE

For the year ended 3| December 201 |

14.8REF -EXK

14.EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC

ARAFEBANREZBRERERNTYE The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to

RTIIEEE -

owners of the Company is based on the following data.

2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$:000
RAEESRERET Earnings for the purpose of basic
2B earnings per share 11,472 96,065
RBEAE
Number of shares
2011 2010
REFESREREA Weighted average number of shares for
Z M B 2 H the purposes of basic earnings per share 3,968,995,668 3,968,995 668

ARMERNGECHTEES
Wyl &2 SREER

Bt No diluted earnings per share has been presented as there were no

potential ordinary shares outstanding for both years.

REIMAXBRER ( ) BRA 2011 &E3§]
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BE _T——F+_A=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

I5.INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2011 2010
FET TET
HK$°000 HK$'000
DT E FAIR VALUE

REA] At beginning of the year 30,972 23,940
BE 30 38 & Exchange adjustment 1,068 420

BERERER Increase in fair value recognised
ZAFEE in profit or loss 5,640 6,612
RE R At end of the year 37,680 30972

gt BEEFRRENREY R
R BRI o

AEER-_T——4+ZA=+—HRK
“T-TFE+-_A=+-BzREYE
ANEEHEAEETEBEZBIA
BEEGEMEHRGMITAERD AR
R BT o HBGREFTAMTERA A
REBEMAEEE - ZEMGERZEZSR
BRYBUEAYEZT SR HERE
fEd o

AREREEREG UGS EEHER
AR HEERBEEMZAANE#ER
BRAFERAGE AP ARENE
WARENEALK

The above investment property is located in Shenzhen, the PRC

under medium lease term.

The fair values of the Group's investment property at 3|1 December
2011 and 31 December 2010 has been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on that date by Knight Frank Petty Limited,
independent qualified professional valuers not connected with the
Group. Knight Frank Petty Limited is members of the Institute of
Valuers. The valuation was arrived at by reference to market
evidence of transaction prices for similar commercial properties in
Shenzhen, the PRC.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using
the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as

investment properties.
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16. 9%  BERRIE

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE %% REIES BER
BEL#  REE BRRRE  BAR  BAE
EKBF  Plant, Wind I8 RfE
Leasehold equipment energy Moulds  Furniture RE
land and and  plant and and  and office Motor g
buildings machinery equipment tools equipment  vehicles Total
TAT  TET AT THT  TET  TAT  TER
HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A COST
RZE-ZE—-F—H At Janvary 2010 12,652 54910 336,454 21290 19,658 5173 460,137
ERHAE Exchange adjustment 241 974 6,208 364 88 22 8,097
wE Additions — 3,441 11,279 756 4022 2971 32,469
EREHAH Acquisition through business
BEG combination — — — — 1,295 - 1295
& Disposals = (18.238) (2,047) (3032) (552) (36) (23,905)
HENER TR Derecognised on disposal of
BUR R a subsidiary = (20,604) = = (1,083) (2486) (24173)
RELERBATE  Derecognised on deemed
BB R disposal of a subsidiary = (7.502) = = (179) (1,322) (9,003)
RIZ-2F At 31 December 2010 12,893 22981 351,894 19,378 23249 14522 444917
+-A=+-H
XA Exchange adjustment 483 813 12,730 654 76 414 15270
e Additions 2572 36 85,269 3,673 2,165 2,825 96,540
& Disposals = = (1330) (49) (806) (1,022) (3207)
HENERRE Derecognised on disposal of
R a subsidiary = = = = (7462) - (7462)
RZE——F At 31 December 201 | 1548 23830 448,563 23,656 17322 16,739 546,058
tZA=+-H

TEMABRER (£E) ARA
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16. 9% - BRERRE @)

n\/-ﬁ

PR WK

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

HE %f EHRE BER
BET#  REE BRERRE  KAR  BAE
EKBF  Plant, Wind I8 R
Leasehold equipment energy Moulds  Furniture RE
land and and  plant and and  and office Motor aE
buildings machinery equipment tools equipment  vehicles Total
TAT  TET AT THT  TET  TAT  TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$:000
i 4 DEPRECIATION
RZE-ZE—-A—-A Atl Janvary 2010 727 30,122 16376 4677 14539 5,006 71447
EREE Exchange adjustment 3 539 590 75 38 55 1330
AERK Provided for the year 678 6,397 16,686 2,749 2,208 1818 30536
iH & B Eliminated on disposals = (12,564) (461) (2617) (445) (19) (16,106)
HENBAR Eliminated on disposal of
B A a subsidiary = (14423) = = (746) (620) (15,789)
B ERBAT Eliminated on deemed disposal
B A of a subsidiary = (32) = = (34) (94) (160)
RZE-ZF At 31 December 2010 1438 10,039 33,191 4,884 15560 6,146 71258
+ZA=+-H
ERAE Exchange adjustment 89 367 1,740 154 80 132 2,562
RERE Provided for the year 807 3989 19,023 3270 1971 1863 30923
i E B b i Eliminated on disposals - - %4) (44) (560) (624) (1,322)
HENWBAR Eliminated on disposal of
(i a subsidiary - - = = (7,462) — (7,462)
RIE——F At 31 December 201 | 2,334 14395 53,860 8,264 9,589 7517 95959
T-A=t-H
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZE——F At 31 December 201 | 13,614 9435 394,703 15392 7,733 9,222 450,099
+=A=t-R
RZE-ZF At 31 December 2010 [1,455 12942 318,703 14,494 7,689 8376 373,659
tZA=+-H
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16.9% - RERREF @ 16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
FREEYME  BERREBELEENE The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
BEBATERITE on a straight line basis at the following rates per annum:

HE L 3-5%3k i £ M & F Leasehold land and buildings 3 - 5% or over the unexpired
REF B UREERE lease terms, whichever is shorter
BE - &RE Plant, equipment and machinery 9 - 15%
KRR 9-15%
RhEERE Wind energy plant
&L 5-15% and equipment 5-15%
EARTA 25% Moulds and tools 25%
AR Furniture and office
WAERMBE  10-25% equipment 10 - 25%
"E 18-25% Motor vehicles 18 - 25%
AEE LR YERRARTEFAS The Group's property interests shown above were held under
HHD - medium-term leases in the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |

17.58 17.GOODWILL
FHET
HK$'000
B AR Cost
R-ZE-—ZEF—-H—H At | January 2010 12,462
Yo BB B B A A B M 28 Acquisition of interest in a subsidiary 2,899
b 5 B Exchange adjustment 36
RZZT—ZF+=-A=+—HBK At 3l December 2010 and 3| December 201 | 15,397
R-_B——F+-_HA=+—H
W E IMPAIRMENT
RZE—ZF—-—H—H At | January 2010 3,210
FRERBEBE Impairment loss recognised during the year 7,284
RZZE—ZF+ZA=+—HK At3l December 2010 and 31 December 201 | 10,494
R-—F——%+-A=+—H
BREE CARRYING VALUES
R-ZEB——%+-A=+—H At 31 December 201 | 4903
R-_ZE-FEF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2010 4903
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17.
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |

BE »

RBEAANS  ERTEAFHNOA
EoEZE=-A@ENRcELEM B
?%J‘L% ELNBELRNEEHBERD
BeTHIRR-_B——F+_H=+—
APEEZSEUNBERTE

17.GOODWILL (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill with indefinite
useful lives has been allocated to three individual cash generating
units (“*CGUs") including the Operation of Wind Farm segment, and
the Wind Energy Related Products segment. The carrying amounts of
goodwill as at 31 December 201 | allocated to these units are as

follows:

2011 2010

FET FET

HK$°000 HK$:000

R5E < Operation of Wind Farm 2,004 2,004
BAEEBHEE® Wind Energy Related Products 2,899 2,899
4,903 4903

—T-THEERNReRERNE A%
EBERIHEMAS RN TERBRA
A(IHRTEH]) 2B BEERR
B/E5187,284,000/8 7T » It Ty AL &R 7%
TERCBRCELENRFRBERT
BB PTE o

AEBFEANROBYBEERENE
BREMGL 2R RERAREE
EHRTZABRE MZBARNE
BESE G RRGEERENE
%mﬁ?%zﬂm%ﬁ%ms%k%—
TF :133%) R118%(ZFE—FF :

MBWXﬁﬁvM&%EM%ﬁ@&ﬁ
CEABNEERR ZRBMSTM -
EREMEEMZSHREZEMAEE
T eENRERAEROLR RS
g

2011 F3R

After reviewing the cash flow forecast in 2010, the Group recognised
full impairment loss of HK$7,284,000 in relation to the goodwill of
Jiangsu Aerospace WanYuan REPM Motor Co,, Ltd. (“Jiangsu REPM")
as Jiangsu REPM’s cash generating unit had sustained losses

continuously for several years.

The Group performed impairment review for the remaining goodwill
based on cash flow forecasts derived from the financial budgets
which was prepared by using the most recent financial results with
projections approved by management at discount rates of 13.3%
(2010: 13.3%) for Operation of Wind Farm and 11.8% (2010: | 1.8%)
for Wind Energy Related Products, which reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
CGUs. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying

amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.



REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT——F+-HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

18.EBFEE I8.INTANGIBLE ASSET
SRV
Technical
know-how
FET
HK$'000
5N COST
R-ZE——F—H—H As at | January 201 | —
PN Additions 71,838
RZZE——F+=-RA=+—H At 31 December 201 | 71,838
B AMORTISATION
R-ZEBE——F—H—H As at | January 201 | —
FREHE Charge for the year 1,996
R_E——F+-A=+—H At 31 December 201 | 1,996
AR & CARRYING VALUES
RZE——F+ZH=1+—H At 31 December 201 | 69,842
R-_T—ZFTF+-F=1+—H At 31 December 2010 —
T ERVEEARRERY - RFET The above intangible asset have a finite useful life. Such intangible
BERBRELENTS HEEE asset is amortised on a straight line basis over the following period:
2l 3 6% Technical know-how 6 years
Bw®m AR ZF ——FHUF 2 2MWE The technical know-how represents 2MW Variable Propeller
PR IE R SRR E R ) E BN - Double-Fed Induction Generator technology acquired in 201 I.

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2011 129



130

n\/-_]_\

B B R B A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

19.

REE AT z#Ex

19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2011 2010

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEEMEE ZRA Cost of unlisted investments 325,919 271,692

BE X, 58 B Exchange adjustments 29,087 20,550

FEAE B 128 7 & Share of post-acquisition profits and other

Hith 2 H KA (5 2 KER comprehensive income, net of dividend received

BRERAEREH) and unrealised profit 15,560 31,718

370,566 323,960

FTAGEEMIREKA 2 FE681,000%8 T
(ZZ—Z4F : 681,000/ 7T) K B U fE Bt

M/‘\m 5

FRN - AEBRFBEEDNATE
72,480,0008 T (ZE—FF : &) o

AEBERILBEREEEHE AR CE
B-AFERBERBRZEMLEE R
RERE HEEAENE AR TR
B WTF:

Included in the cost of unlisted investments is goodwill of
HK$681,000 (2010: HK$681,000) arising on the acquisition of

associates.

During the year, the Group made capital injection of HK$72,480,000

(2010: Nil) into new associates.

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of loss of an
associate. The amount of unrecognised share of loss of the associate,
extracted from the relevant management account of the associate,

both for the year and cumulatively, are as follows:

2011 2010
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$:000

AERFRERZEMH Unrecognised share of loss of associate
BERNAER for the year — -

Rt KRR 2 E1h Accumulated unrecognised share of
BERNAER loss of an associate (79,939) (79,939)
FEMXEREE (£E) FRA 2011 F3R
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19. R BHEATIZ2HER @)

AREBERRZHAMBEERMT -

e B R M E

19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

associates is set out below:

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

2011 2010

FET FET

HK$°000 HK$'000

B ERE Total assets 3,011,240 3,625,738

BERRE Total liabilities 1,921,490 2,191,655

BEFE Net assets 1,089,750 1,434,083

AEEEGBHELRZ Group's share of net

BESE assets of associates 377,069 323,279

WA Revenue 369,423 573,158

REF M Profit for the year 90,699 170,082

REEEHEBE N R EE Group's share of results of associates 15,689 33,689
AEER-_Z——F+HA=+—HZ Details of the principal associates of the Group at 31 December

TRBENEFEHNMEL2

2011 are set out in note 42.
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20 R4 REHIERzER

20.INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES

2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000

RERZEHER I LT Cost of unlisted investments in jointly controlled
BEKA - IBRWERIRS  entities, net of pre-acquisition dividend 1,766,841 1,766,841
BB Exchange adjustments 166,716 124,576
FE(G BB 25 - 0BRARE  Share of post-acquisitions profits, net of dividend 80,462 71,789
IEEEFE Share of net assets 2,014,019 1,963,206
B BHERBERR Less: Impairment loss recognised (741,137) (741,137)
1,272,882 1,222,069

FETREXNABERKBARZHE
B E 4 2 78 1,156,106,000% 7T (=
T T4 :1,156,106,000) * EF - =
TTLFELZEHEBR1,155,343, 000%
CMZE-ZEEST763,0008 T AL
MARERBRERRRAIS%EIME

o

Eo FHN

Bk

@ o

\Z2-ZF AEERBER-EHR
FAEGHERLIRERAREREIRER
AHRARQA (LREHARE] - HE8E
AERPREERR) <R REER
[E] A {8 &5 48 102,632,000/ 7T (R B 1 &
€ # % % {2 & 18 339,360,000/ T Z
B) -

AEER_ZT——FEHARZHER
BaROeR REERATKESE
BAE

2011 F3R

Included in the cost of unlisted investments is goodwill of
HK$1,156,106,000 (2010: HK$I,156,106,000) arising on the
acquisition of jointly controlled entities with an amount of
HK$1,155,343,000 arose in 2007, while HK$763,000 arose in 2010
for additional interest of 5% in Jiangsu CASC Wind Turbine
Manufacture Co,, Ltd.

In 2010, the Group made a reversal of impairment loss of
HK$102,632,000 (out of the impairment loss previously recognised
in prior years of HK$339,360,000) in relation to the carrying amount
of an interest in a jointly controlled entity, Beijing Delphi Wan Yuan
Engine Management Systems Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Delphi"), which is
engaged in the manufacturing of automotive engine management

systems and components.

In 2011, the Group reassessed the recoverable amount of the
interest in the jointly controlled entity. The carrying amount is

approximate to its recoverable amount.
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20.AXEEFIEEZES @

REFEEREGREE  ERERE
AF v BRTPBCEMGRMEA
20%° - R_FE—FTF-_A=-+ZH &
RERBEEIRHRMEXIER &
= FHZEBH20%[ D E15%2 R
% RERATHLIREREZHNS
FoRZE—TFE  RNAREHER
ZEmEzARESEEN - HIERER
BAIX BEHRENTR -

HAZHERER RO BRER
EBRAECABE(EARIAEEREMN
EHRARZGEREE BT RAKRES
MERME)MEBR]  REREX15%(ZF
—TE 5% BEIFHHE  RRE
MARZGEREERREEARRR
BamBadh EREEEEZE
B ZEAFRZHERKBLIFHER
KA%atE - AFHINZ RS RERR
TE 32 R % 3.5%¢(F [ HE o

BE_F——F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

20.INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
applicable PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate for Beijing Delphi was
20% in prior year. On 22 February 2010, Beijing Delphi was classified
as ""High Technology Enterprise” and entitled to a tax reduction from
20% to 15% for three years which will be subject to renewal by
Beijing Delphi before expiry. The preferential tax rate granted to
Beijing Delphi contributed to the increase of the recoverable amount
of interest in the jointly controlled entity in 2010.

The recoverable amount of interest in the jointly controlled entity is
determined by management from value in use calculations by
estimating the Group’s share of the present value of the estimated
future cash flows expected to be generated by the jointly controlled
entity covering a 5-year period at discount rate of 15% (2010: 15%),
which reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risk specific to the investment in the jointly
controlled entity. The growth rate being used for the 5-year period
for operation of the jointly controlled entity is 4% based on financial
budgets approved by management. Cash flows beyond the 5-year
period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3.5%.
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20 AL EIEFIEE 2#2 ®  20.INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)

RESEAEEREFASERGEZAEE The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
HE I E B E AR jointly controlled entities attributable to the Group's interest which
I are accounted for using equity method is set out below:
2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERBEE Non-current assets 441,933 398,603
TEEE Current assets 829,261 773413
ErRBaFE Non-current liabilities (175,106) (202,069)
mEAE Current liabilities (616,545) (529,634)
BEFE Net assets 479,543 440,313
WA Income 1,751,417 1,584,196
B X Expenses (1,590,385) (1,426,397)
REEm A Profit for the year 161,032 157,799
AEER-_Z——F+H=+—HZ Details of the principal jointly controlled entities of the Group at 3
FTEAREHBRBABHNMT42 December 201 | are set out in note 42.
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1 BITEHER

RZBE——F+=A=+—H8 " 8#17F
FZETEFFE A% (ZT—TF :
225%% 333%) @ B EEE A

12,409,000 © (= & — T F
11,996,000 7T) ° ZFERITF AN EH
AR AAIRI - ZEGERZEBADT
W

HE-_ZT——F+-HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

21.FIXED BANK DEPOSITS

At 31 December 201 |, bank deposits that carry fixed interests rates
at 3.33% (2010: 2.25% to 3.33%) per annum with carrying amounts
of HK$12,409,000 (2010: HK$11,996,000) which cannot be
redeemed before their maturity dates. An analysis of the maturity of

these deposits are as follows:

2011 2010
FET FAETL
HK$’000 HK$'000
—FREPEHE Amount due after one year — [1996
—FRNIHEHE Amount due within one year 12,409 —
12,409 ['1,996

258 22.INVENTORIES
2011 2010
FET FExT
HK$’000 HK$'000
7 s Raw materials 76,467 88,973
EE @ Work-in-progress 155,141 26,315
BUAK oh Finished goods 238,030 14,643
469,638 129,931
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23.B S R H B

EOREMBERZBEE S ERK
169,502,000% 7t (= & — T F
177,392,000 ) * E B REEE
70,143,000 T ( = T — T F
147,185,000 7L) - —E——F+=A4
St BZEBEZEKARBRELERET
F=HHEKE R £ 28,624,000/ 7T (=
T—T4F 27,670,000 7T) © EHER
SFERMERBLEE - ZRNE HEUK
Hep s NEERBEEERRREER
BRTFTERFFHOBEEY - 91178
ERMBATHAEIER PN EEHE —
FREE - BEBLZABINT2ESE
WK (R B ) & B T s 2 BR
RAOMAET :

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables of
HK$169,502,000 (2010: HK$177,392,000) net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$70,143,000 (2010: HK$147,185,000). The
amount of trade receivables at 31 December 201! included
retention receivables for the sales of wind turbines to third parties
of HK$28,624,000 (2010: HK$27,670,000). The balances will be
settled upon the completion of warranty period of 3 years. For the
remaining balances of trade receivables, the Group allows credit
periods for 90 days on average to its customers for sales of goods
and rendering of services. At the discretion of the executive
directors, several major customers were allowed to settle their
balances beyond the credit terms up to one year. The following is an
aged analysis of trade receivables, net of allowances, presented based

on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2011 2010

FET TR

HK$°000 HK$000

30 A Within 30 days 48,503 136,274
31£90H Between 31 - 90 days 7,740 24,258
91Z£180H Between 91 - 180 days 3,821 9,408
1812 365H Between 181 - 365 days 389 5125
Hil—F Over | year 109,049 2,327
169,502 177,392
AEBCESRURERBERE AT Included in the Group's trade receivable balance are debtors with
75,635,000 T2 R ER (ZF—F aggregate carrying amount of HK$75,635000 (2010:

F : 16,860,000 7T) * ZEHRAERIE
EHRBEH  MAKEHABEREES
B AEBUTRBEREEHR 2 EME
R RERUBERZFEHKRER A365H
(ZZ—Z% : 365H) °

o

FEIMAREREIFE ( ) BRA 2011 &E3§]

HK$16,860,000) which are past due at the end of the reporting
period for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The

average age of these receivables is 365 days (2010: 365 days).
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23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:

2011 2010

FER FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

0£90H Between O - 90 days 3,821 9,408
91Z£180H Between 91 - 180 days 389 5,125
HBiE180H Over 180 days 71,425 2,327
4 Total 75,635 16,860

AEE—RERMEEB365H M EUK
F28EE ARBEEERR  ZF8
#1365 H B UK —REZKRE - HEBHTT
EEPBRETRREENZETIER
PERSN o

The Group will normally provide fully for all receivables overdue 365
days because historical experiences is such that receivables that are
past due 365 days are generally not recoverable, except for some
major customers with longer credit terms at the discretion of the

executive directors.

AEBREEHNOT - Movement in the allowance for doubtful debis:
2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
FH AR Balance at beginning of the year 147,185 144,202
MEHFATAIE 2 ¢ 5 Amounts written off during the year
as uncollectible (2,916) (4,349)
HEHRBRREL Disposal of a subsidiary (84,507) —
BHREKRZ Impairment losses recognised in respect
B RRREEE of trade receivables 10,381 7332
F B Balance at end of the year 70,143 147,185

REBEEBIERH658 S, RRFA
BAEETEEARZNEBRENE
HRUER - AREYERZZERT
AEAERm

The balance of the allowance for doubtful debts are individually
impaired trade receivables which have been overdue 365 days or/
and have no material transactions with the Group during the year

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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23.

24.[E

TEMABRER (£E) ARA

EaREMBKR =)

REMEMHELA  AREZHTE
FHLHEMENEEERPZERE
ERAERPZEERB -BTEPZ
RELSEZRARELRBRETESR
A ARBEEHBMERREZEER
B 64%(ZF—FF : 0% BHEK
HEREAH T ERE -

R-F——%+-A=t—RIHARK

B2 B At e SR B B BL 15 7,118,00078 T
(ZE—ZF: 12,969,000/%75)2%451

HRAZEHEERE  BHRBEAHKE L
BB ERGFE 2% $85,013,000/8 T (=
—Z4F 1 12,496,000/ 7T) & K E 18
121,696,000% = (= T — T &
110,581,000 ) - AE BB EKE
BRMESE 2 REREIOR AR o

o RZFE-—FF+ZHA=+—H3t
/\$%l2ﬁm%u&m EHEBZEA
A FE U 5712,890,0008 L + R BEER
—F-—FKE-

e, e 1 Bl 8 A B K

Bl EABEATRRESNLE &
BH 2EEREBEEEIN-—FAE
B-REZZEH  ZFFAXWEF
EAKKRESEROBRRA -

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group's executive directors
and marketing team would assess the potential customer's credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to
customers are reviewed regularly with reference to past settlement
history. 64% (2010: 90%) of the trade receivables that are neither
past due nor impaired have the best credit history managed by the

Group's marketing team.

Included in the Group's other receivables at 3|1 December 201 | are
dividend receivable from a jointly controlled entity of HK$7,1 18,000
(2010: HK$12,969,000), deposits for purchase of inventories for
subsidiaries in the PRC of HK$85,013,000 (2010: HK$12,496,000)
and bills receivable of HK$ 121,696,000 (2010: HK$110,581,000). All

bills receivables of the Group are aged within 90 days for both years.

In addition, included in the Group's other receivables at 3|

December 2010 was receivables from disposal of associates of
HK$12,890,000. They are settled in the year 201 I.

24.AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO ASSOCIATES

The amounts due from/to associates are trade nature, unsecured,
non-interest bearing and are repayable within one year according to
the credit periods. Based on invoice date, the amounts are aged
within 90 days for both years.

JEUHE & N R B EE) Movement in the allowance for amounts due from associates:
2011 2010
FET FE&T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH R Balance at beginning of the year 23,383 23,383
BN NI O] Reversal of amount due from an associate 1,223 —
3 A AT U [ 5R0R Amount written off as uncollectible (22,174) —
F R Balance at end of the year 2,432 23,383

2011 F3R
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25.F& Wy 3t Fl {2 H| E RS ™K

ZEGBEOERERARZEHNEER
133,391,000 7w (= T — T &
41,644,000 7C) - EFAEER T HER
7 ) B 82 96,000,000/ L (ZZ— T4 ¢
40600000,%7c) BEEEHNENF
4.86%%6.1% (ZE—ZF : 4.86%) KA
R-_F— _E/\H&t)ﬂ (=22 —%
& /EEA:EE——E/—\HEE) c RER
RERBREREE - £RIE %IJ,\ EEIVIN
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96,000,000;‘%%&:;fff¢+:ﬂ:+
— B 2 E A 1 SR BEFR A5 #2 30,000,000 7T
AR Z LR B8+ RIEF U
RETEMEENMEREEE -

——F+ A=+ —BZEKER
BXAEELERE TR HP“%IJ
E’JEH&ZEH‘:%% 404,0007% 7T (=

: 27,457,000 7T) Hqﬁéfaﬂ%,ﬁﬁ
E-—ZFEF+-RA=1—
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%;%;Z&JKEEEA,\\D% C A
BIREREE -

g
Het

rm}i‘*N%“H?ﬁ%ifw
e
oH
i
.

% it S 2

it
‘m}

_FH

s

m
‘% B

R

26.R1T46F ERIPRITER

RITEMRCHIPRITER

RITARRIR0.01% B 1% T EFE (=
—ZFE : 0.01%ZE0.36%) 5t & °

B IR 1777 3R 0.50% 2 Bl € & 5 X
(ZZ—ZF : 0.36%) 5T & ° BIKRTT
77 30 22,606,0008 L (=T — T F :
32644000,%7z>7% 5T RITEE 2 RE
& WA BERRBEE  EHR-ZT—
ZE-AGERABERER -

BE_F——F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

25.AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Included in the balances are amounts due from a jointly controlled
entity of HK$133,391,000 (2010: HK$41,644,000), of which loans
advanced to the jointly controlled entity amounted to
HK$96,000,000 (2010: HK$40,600,000) bears fixed rate interest at a
range from 4.86% to 6.1% (2010: 4.86%) per annum and are
repayable in June and July 2012 (2010: repayable in June 201 1), the
remaining amounts are non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand. The jointly controlled entity has made undertaking
arrangements with the Group that the above loans of
HK$96,000,000 and other current account balance of
HK$30,000,000 as at 31 December 2011 shall be repaid from the
proceeds upon the realisation of the land and buildings and certain

other assets of that jointly controlled entity.

The amounts due from jointly controlled entities at 31 December
2011 also included retention receivables of HK$28,404,000 (2010:
HK$27,457,000) for the sales of wind turbines to a jointly controlled
entity which will be settled upon the completion of warranty period.
The remaining balance of HK$ 11,779,000 as at 31 December 2010
represented current account balance with a jointly controlled entity
which was unsecured, non-interest bearing and was repayable on
demand.

26.BANK BALANCES/PLEDGED BANK

DEPOSITS

Bank balances/pledged bank deposits

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates which range
from 0.01% to 1% (2010: 0.01% to 0.36%) per annum.

The pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate of 0.50% (2010:
0.36%) per annum. The pledged bank deposits, amounting to
HK$22,606,000 (2010: HK$32,644,000), have been pledged to
secure certain bank facilities and are therefore classified as current
asset. It will be released in March 2012 upon the settlement of the

related borrowings.
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21. B R A A

EOREMENRBREESENK
246,043,000 T (= & — T & :
166,585,000/ 7T) ° AN & B i@ F HEH it
EEEMA30HZ0HMNEEYR - E5E
NRRBRERTEREZR 2RR DT

27.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Included in trade and other payables are trade payables of
HK$246,043,000 (2010: HK$166,585,000). The Group normally
receives credit period for 30 to 90 days from its suppliers. The
following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on invoice date

at the end of the reporting period:

mE
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
30B A Within 30 days 223,628 112,434
31ZE90H Between 31 - 90 days 11,720 33,471
91£180H Between 91 - 180 days 2,598 5118
1812 365H Between 181 - 365 days 3,069 3,167
i —F Over | year 5,028 12,395
246,043 166,585

R-ZF——F+-_A=1t—H0 st AXE
B HEMmEN N BEEETRENNEA

11,739,000 © ( = & — T &

14,227,000/ 70) ~ A T IR Il 1 a5
IR 252200008 T (ZF —F F :
4,176,000 L) R B KW RE P KA

122,905,000 T ( = & — T &
19,745,000% 7T) ©

FEMABRER (58) BRA 2011 &E3§]

Included in the Group's other payable at 31 December 2011 are
accruals for construction work of HK$I1,739,000 (2010:
HK$14,227,000), dividend payables to non-controlling interests of
HK$5,220,000 (2010: HK$4,176,000) and receipt in advance from
customers of HK$ 122,905,000 (2010: HK$19,745,000).
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28 (R 1E BB

REBBHEEFREARERAMIEE
B2 RIEE F.2 R E S HE B &
ARREELREB 2BE -

28.WARRANTY PROVISION

Warranty provision represents the present value of the directors’
best estimate of the future outflow of economic benefits that will be
required under the Group's obligations for warranties of local sales

of wind turbines.

REEREEZT Movement in the warranty provision:
2011 2010
FET FE T
HK$’000 HK$000
FHZ & Balance at beginning of the year 18,491 12,032
BE 3 38 & Exchange adjustments 638 211
R A Additional provisions recognised 11,094 8,883
BRAEE Utilisation of provision (7,843) (2,635)
FRZER Balance at end of the year 22,380 18,491
2958 29.BORROWINGS
2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
RITRBER (H5Ea) Short term bank loans (Note a) 374,400 116,000
BRI EE X (Bt st b) Short term shareholder's loans (Note b) 156,000 614,800
BRERBE R (Kzb) Long term shareholder’s loans (Note b) 716,400 228,520
Hth REE R (B aEc) Long term other loans (Note c) 80,148 87,000
1,326,948 1,046,320
B A RRBEEMER Less: Amount due within one year under
—FRNEEZHRE current liabilities (530,400) (730,800)
—FRIBMZR Amount due after one year 796,548 315,520

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

141



142

n\/-_]_\

B B R B A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

2088 @) 29.BORROWINGS (Continued)

AEEREEZINHBRAOT ¢ The maturity of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:
2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$000
—FR Within one year 530,400 730,800
WEZRF Between two to five years 716,400 228,520
HBiRhF Over five years 80,148 87,000
1,326,948 1,046,320

ftat - Notes:

(a)

TEMABRER (£E) ARA

RZE——F+-A=+—HA KAk
4K 1R IR 1T B 70254,400,0008 T A R
# 212,000,000 & & R R 17 B &
120,000,000/ T 3% A K % 100,000,000
T ZRBEERPEARBITARERS
EREEEFE FF0%E10%TE ° B
m48,ooo,ooo>%mngEmo,ooo,ooo
JL * 60,000,000 T % A R ¥
50,000,0007% * 132,000,000 7T 3% A B
#110,000,0007T B K 134,400,000 7t
AR #112,000,000T A BT EAR
BITARBRAERELERNR FF0%
5% - 8% K10%:t 8 c R=ZFT—ZTF+=
A=+ BZZREREERBTER
116,000,000 7t 8k A & ¥ 100,000,000
TC o B AOBREE F A5 31%5T 8 - I
BRERBHE

2011 F3R

(a) The amount at 31 December 201 | represents unsecured bank loan of

HK$254,400,000 or RMB212,000,000 and secured bank loan of
HK$120,000,000 or RMB100,000,000. The amounts bear floating-rate
interest at 0% to 10% on top of People’s Bank of China benchmark
interest rate per annum. Loans of HK$48,000,000 or RMB40,000,000,
HK$60,000,000 or RMB50,000,000, HK$132,000,000 or
RMB 110,000,000 and HK$134,400,000 or RMBI12,000,000 bear
floating-rate interest at 0%, 5%, 8% and 10% on top of People's bank of
China benchmark interest rate per annum respectively. The amount at
31 December 2010 represented unsecured bank loan of
HK$ 116,000,000 or RMB100,000,000. The amount bore fixed-rate

interest at 5.31% per annum and was fully repaid during the year.
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(b)

FZHBEEA SR EBTRAZHEA
AR M BERRE DA (AR
B (EREEAN) BN ZEREHXA
872,400,0007% 7T 3% A K # 727,000,000
T (=2 T4 : 843,320,000 T3k A
K #727,000,0007T) ° FRFIBEERE
636,000,0007% 7T 3 A K % 530,000,000

JC °

ZAEREER  REEFNEITRE
5%FF5TE ° B50156,000,000/ T8k A
R ¥ 130,000,000 (=T —Z4F « &) -
236,400,000/ 7T 3¢ A R #197,000,0007T
(ZZ—Z4F : 228,520,000 LA RH
197,000,0007T) JA 2 480,000,000/ 7T 5%
AR #400,000,0007T (ZF—ZF : &)
SRR ——FMA —T—HFEMA
EZZT - "FHAER - -EX
614,800,000 TE R =T ——F M AE
HEE -

ZABER AN E AR R R R
# 1 2 B 380,148,000/ T 3k A R ¥
66,790,0007T (ZF—24 : 87,000,000
w s AR#75,000,0007T) ° ZHEA
EER - RETFEFX6.16%:1 B RAR
—T_ZTF+-REBHEE K&
9,852,000/ 7t 3k A K. #8,210,0007T (=
T — T F : 9,280,000/ Tk AR
8,000,00070) E R FREEEE °

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

BE _T——F+_A=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

29.BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) The amounts represent loans advanced from CALT through CASC's

subsidiary, Aerospace Science and Technology Finance Co., Ltd.
("ASTF") as the trustee in aggregate amounting to HK$872,400,000 or
RMB727,000,000 (2010: HK$843,320,000 or RMB727,000,000), with
HK$636,000,000 or RMB530,000,000 additionally raised in the year

The amounts are unsecured, bears fixed-rate interest ranging from 3.7%
to 5% per annum. Loans of HK$156,000,000 or RMBI30,000,000
(2010: Nil), HK$236,400,000 or RMBI97,000,000 (2010:
HK$228,520,000 or RMB197,000,000) and HK$480,000,000 or
RMB400,000,000 (2010: Nil) are repayable in April 2012, April 2014
and April 2016 respectively. Loan of HK$614,800,000 was fully repaid in
April 201 1.

The amount represents a loan of HK$80,148,000 or RMB66,790,000
(2010: HK$87,000,000 or RMB75,000,000) advanced from a non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary. The amount is unsecured, bears
fixed-rate interest at 6.16% per annum and is repayable in full in
November 2020. During the year, principal in the amount of
HK$9,852,000 or RMB8,210,000 (2010: HK$9,280,000 or
RMB8,000,000) was early repaid.
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3038 EHi 1A 30.DEFERRED TAXATION
REFNNFBRRAEME - BT ELEHRE For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
BEERBBE THE -UATRRHBR financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
Wi s BRERBEEBRAN offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for

financial reporting purposes:

2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’°000 HK$'000
EXERBEE Deferred tax assets 3,985 5,022
ELHIERE Deferred tax liabilities (19,188) (17,979)
(15,203) (12.957)
ARBERRACEAERLEHEEE (B The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
E)MT - recognised by the Group:
HEAR
NEER ADEEN
Revaluation Eth (Bt Undistributed profits e
of properties Others (note) of subsidiaries Total
TEL TEL TEL TEL
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
RZZ-F5-A—HB At January 2010 2431 = 7,595 10,026
Baxx 1 (E2) Charge (credit) to profit or loss 1,697 (5,022) 9302 5977
BXfZRERNH PRC withholding tax paid = = (3,046) (3,046)
NZT-%F At 31 December 2010 4,128 (5022) 13,851 12,957
+-A=+-A
EAAE Exchange adjustments 142 (I - 3
BaRxx A Charge to profit or loss 1410 1,148 2986 5,544
BENZEEENY PR withholding tax peid . . (3309) (3309)
R-E—% At 31 December 201 5,680 (3989) 13508 15,03
tZA=t-H
Bfa Note:
ZETRIBZRABMTEB RRERBEL 2K The amount mainly represents temporary differences arising on government
B o grants and warranty provision.
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RZE——F+=ZA=+—H0 ' ~5H
AETAARE AT IEE1E4644,895,0007%
T (ZZ—F4 : 589,396,000/ L) A1
BIEBRZEM - FA - BRREEMEE
BEZEMRER BWARABERHIBEERE
REERNBEE - ABRBEEAE
364,028,000% T (= & — T &
390,199,000 7t) A] T AER B 4588 o H
BARRHEBBRBENRAFAZIE -

RZE——F+=ZA=+—H0 ' ~5H
A AR R £ %870,676,0008 7T (=

—Z 4 1 59,156,000/ 7T) © IR K
] BB EE AR AR T i ) LA B AR AT 4R B B
BoOMERLUNRGRREEREREL
BMIEEE o

BERBECEMESHRE B2TTN\F
—A—A PEMEAQ B ERREFMm
SRNOBREFERBREND - BAZE
F BT B A AR 2 Bl i IR B = R 2 B
fE%i1813,508,0008 L (ZF—ZF :
13,851,000 7T) BEHBE - ARAK
B A GEREE 2 BERME - K1
BRPEANBRARRD M GEREE
17,388,000 o (= T — T &
14,661,000/ 7T) Rér & P B Mk P EH
B MEBENEEUTETERTER
RER o

BE_F——F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

30.DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 3| December 2011, the Group has estimated unused tax losses
of approximately HK$644,895,000 (2010: HK$589,396,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the tax losses during the year due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of HK$364,028,000 (2010: HK$390,199,000) that
may be carried forward indefinitely. The remaining unrecognised tax

losses will expire within five years.

At 31 December 2011, the Group has deductible temporary
difference of HK$70,676,000 (2010: HK$59,156,000). No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference can be

utilised.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from |
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation of HK$ 13,508,000 (2010:
HK$13,851,000) has been provided in respect of temporary
differences attributable to those undistributed profits of the PRC
subsidiaries. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to HK$17,388,000 (2010: HK$14,661,000) as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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31. B A 48 Bl

RZEBE——F+-A=+—H0  BN#
B 8,079,000 T (Z & — T F :
8,049,000/ 7T) B /& Bl BT 4 BE 5l
BEDE BELRBREBRENRT
2B ZEBBREMENE  BE

R AL F LS FRBERER -

31.GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 31 December 201 |, government grants of HK$8,079,000 (2010:
HK$8,049,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by PRC
government authorities for the purpose of financing the acquisition
of property, plant and equipment. The amount will be recognised in
profit or loss over 35 years according to the useful life of the

relevant property, plant and equipment.

2011 2010
THET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
REGMELZ DN : Analysed for reporting purpose as:
FEREEE Non-current liabilities 7,830 7,809
REEE Current liabilities 249 240
8,079 8,049
& 32.SHARE CAPITAL
7 #E
Number RAEE
of shares Amount
FE&T
HK$'000
BREE0.10% Tz LB Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
ETE ¢ Authorised:
R-_ZE-—ZTF—-H—-H " At | January 2010,
—T-TF+-_A=+—H" 31 December 2010
k—_Z—F+-_F=+—H and 3| December 201 | 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BETRAR : Issued and fully paid:
RZZ—Z&E+-_A=+—HK At 3| December 2010 and 3|
—T——%®+=-fF=+—H December 201 | 3,968,995,668 396,900

) BRD 2011 &E3§]
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33.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from

prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes
the borrowings disclosed in note 29, net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued

share capital, reserves and accumulated losses.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. The management considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital, and will balance its overall
capital structure.
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48T H 34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

ERITRER Categories of financial instruments
2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$000
ETRMEE Financial assets
BE R R EUWERR Loans and receivables (including cash and
(BEAeEREEFEY) cash equivalents) 1,190,525 965,346
PRAEE Financial liabilities
55 X AN Amortised cost 1,647,881 1,219,706
ERHEAMEEEERBR Financial risk management objectives and policies

AREZTRSBTABREE &ﬁ{‘@
YR - B AT & QA FLlﬂl
HEEHERN Eﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁm

TEREN  RITHEHRRAS “”%&
HiENERRER BHEZEERT

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, amounts due from/to associates, amounts due from
jointly controlled entities, pledged bank deposits, fixed bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables and borrowings.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective

TEMABRER (£E) ARA

AZHFBEREMERNRE - ABZE
ERTAZARNREZSRRZHR
ERTX -

CRIAHAEECATEEERE
Z-EREEEREREZERRE - U
ﬁam&MHﬁMZm= i o ANEE
AR ZEERR  mHERBRIEBHE
T BB jﬁﬂ%@&ﬁgﬂ LAy W
mE o

2011 &E3§]

notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the

policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.

The financial instruments are fundamental to the Group's daily
operations. The management manages and monitors the exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner. There has been no change to the Group's exposure
to credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk or the manner in which it

manages and measures the risk.
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties failure to perform their obligations as at 31
December 201 | in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the management of the Group has formulated a credit
policy and delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group
has concentration of credit risk as 24% (2010: 57%) and 53% (2010:
92%) of the total trade receivables due from the Group's largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively. The Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable
regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced. In
addition, the Group monitors the exposure to credit in respect of
the amount due from associates and jointly controlled entities
through exercising influence or control over their financial and
operating policy decisions and reviewing their financial position on a

regular basis.

The credit risk for bank deposits is considered minimal as such

amounts are placed in banks with high credit ratings.
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W5 E R

TETL

AEERRBE-_T——FR-_T—TF
FEERTER (F2HEME20) K=F
TEZERITHE (FLHWF29 5%
ZReREFERR EEEREER
FEREE TERERERZEE—F
R A ERE R -

AEEAXBEATEEE (F2HME
29) - EEBRITHEH (FL2HME21R%26)
REWERZEGEEEEHEGELHEK
H25) B ATENERR - ERER
% ﬁﬂfﬂ& T enBEHIREKRF
RREZRERESHRIEE -

AEBFHeRMARNXARNFE
ERAMF 2R ERARER
B AEBCRERENEEARIES
RREBRITRAEF KD -

HEEA I

T zHREA T HREZBRITER
REEHRTEREAT 2 XER - &
FREZONENRETEEZFERFTT
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances for 2011 and 2010 (note 26 for details)
and variable-rate bank borrowings for 2010 (note 29 for details). The
management continuously monitors interest rate fluctuation and will

consider further hedging interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate borrowings (note 29 for details), fixed-rate bank
balances (notes 21 and 26 for details) and amounts due from jointly
controlled entities that bear fixed interest rate (note 25 for details).
The management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
repaying the fixed-rate bank borrowings when significant interest

rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note. The
Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of HIBOR.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank balances at the end
of the reporting period and the stipulated changes taking place at

the beginning of the year and held constant throughout the year.

If the interest rates on variable-rate bank balances have been [0
basis points (2010: 10 basis points for variable-rate bank balances
and variable-rate bank borrowings) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit would have
decreased/increased by approximately HK$18,000 (2010:

HK$381,000).
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk

The Group has minimal currency exposures as the majority of
transactions and balances were denominated in respective functional
currencies of group entities. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposures should the need arise.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of banking facilities and ensures compliance with loan

covenants.

The Group relies on borrowings from CALT as a significant source
of liquidity. In the opinion of directors, adequate sources of funding
are available to enable the Group to meet in full its financial
obligations due for the foreseeable future and manage its liquidity

position.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
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48T H » 34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
SRHEAMEEEERBR (&) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
RBESRR () Liquidity risk(Continued)
HEE & R E @ g % Liquidity and interest risk tables
ik §37 3]
RRAZ REhE
Weighted 3faR 83
aerage  WEXE  HMER  123fER 3] SENL Tt REE
effective % Less than I-3 3 months 125% Over undiscounted ~ Carrying
interest rate Ondemand I month ~ months  tolyear |-5year 5years cashflows  amount

tér  TEr  TEn  TEr  TEx  TExr  TEx iR
% HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOO  HKSOO0

Zg--f 2011

FESHEE Non-derivative financial liabilties

EAREMENT Trade and other paables - — 6T 15782 25016 - - WIS 2815

FE-E8 Borrowings - fied rate 411 - - — 58558 846222 136531 Il4I311 952,548

fFE-%8 Borrowings - foating rate 1.0 - - - 39534 - — 305346 374400

EffBERmR Amounts due to associates - 63,708 - - - - - 63,708 63,708
63,708 216,441 15,762 578,920 846,22 136,531 1,857,590 1,647,881

3% 2010

FESHEE Non-derivative financial liabilities

”%&ﬁﬂﬁﬁéﬁ% Trade and other payables = — W 80700 575 = — T8 172668

EE-T8 Borrowings - fixed rate 514 — — — 746,468 257,941 157307 Ll6l736 1046320

EfBENE30 Amounts due to associates = 518 - - = = = 518 518

518 67593 80,700 771043 257,941 157307 1335022 1219706

AFEE Fair values

CHEERSRABZATE  NHIRIE The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are

BB EREIMIAREBRAE determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models

TE ° based on discounted cash flows.

BEERR REHKTFAGREHBR The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets

FLeRMEERSRBECFEAMESRE and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated

NTERE - financial statements approximate to their fair values.
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35.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

In February 2010, the Company had entered into an agreement with
Emergya Wind Technologies B.V., an independent third party
acquired additional 40% equity interest in Directwind Sales, an
previously 25% owned associate of the Company established in
Beijing, the PRC, at a consideration of RMBI,600,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,824,000). Directwind Sales is principally engaged in the sales of
wind turbines. Upon the completion of acquisition, the Company
holds 65% equity interest in Directwind Sales. The transaction was
completed in May 2010. Details of the acquisition were set out in
the Company’s circular dated 30 April 2010.

The net assets acquired in the transaction, and the goodwill arising,

T are as follows:
TET
HK$'000
rSFEE (BE) - Net assets (liabilities) acquired:
ME - BERRE Property, plant and equipment 1,295
25 R E M EM R Trade and other receivables 68,877
JE e S R 12 1 B 8 X Amounts due from jointly controlled entities 40,280
RITERRE S Bank balances and cash 10,817
B 5 REMEMNR Trade and other payables (122,923)
(1,654)
ANBEEZHE Goodwill arising on acquisition:
HERE Consideration transferred | 824
o FEEREIMEE R Plus: Non-controlling interests (579)
BB FEE Less: Net liabilities acquired 1,654
AEEE ER Goodwill arising on acquisition 2,899
BERBATIISELN Consideration transferred satisfied by:
Re Cash |,824
WREs| e ER e Net cash (outflow) inflow
ORH)IRA arising on acquisition:
ENRERE Cash consideration paid (1,824)
RIOTEAREE Bank balances and cash 10,817
8,993
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35.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

In accounting for the acquisition of Directwind Sales, the Group had
measured the non-controlling interests at the proportionate share of

the acquiree's net identifiable assets at the acquisition date under

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) requires an equity interest previously
held in the acquiree to be remeasured to its fair value on the
acquisition date. The fair value of its previously-held interest in an
associate which had a carrying amount of nil prior to acquisition due

to accumulated losses, was insignificant and so no gain or loss has

been recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill arose in the business combination because the cost of the
combinations included a premium paid to obtain control over
Directwind Sales and synergies expected from the other operations
of the Group as the consideration paid for the purchase of the
additional 40% interest included amounts in relation to the benefit of
expected synergies, revenue growth and future distribution in the

PRC of wind turbines manufactured by the Group's other

subsidiaries.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected to be

deductible for tax purposes.

Included in the profit in prior year was a profit of HK$ 1,431,000
attributable to Directwind Sales. Revenue of HK$290,396,000 for the
year was included for the vyear in respect of Directwind Sales. Had
the acquisition of Directwind Sales been effected at | January 2010,
the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
HK$736,137,000, and the profit of the Group for the year would
have been HK$110,988,000. The proforma information was for
illustrative purposes only and was not necessarily an indication of
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would

have been achieved had the acquisition been completed at | January

2010, nor was intended to be a projection of future results.
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35.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group had
Directwind Sales been acquired at the beginning of prior year, the
directors had calculated depreciation and amortisation of plant and
equipment acquired on the basis of the fair values arising in the
initial accounting for the business combination rather than the
carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition financial

statements.

36.DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@) On | November 2011, the Group disposed of 100% of its
interest in Hung Nien Electronics Limited to an independent
third party at a consideration of HK$1,116,000.

The net assets of Hung Nien Electronics Limited at the date of

BREFENT :

disposal are as follows:

2011
FET
HK$°000
REBHIEZEE Analysis of assets and liabilities
RGBT over which control was lost:
BE Inventories 2,731
B 5 & H o FE WK Trade and other receivables 4,648
RITEBRRES® Bank balances and cash 1,925
B 5 REMENK Trade and other payables (8,188)
HEBERE Net assets disposed of 1,116
HEKERR WS Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:
Bk ERRE Consideration received and receivable L1116
FLERERE Net assets disposed of (1,116)
HESIEMFREMA GRE) © Net cash inflow (outflow) arising on disposal:
HeRE Cash consideration L1116
B EHERTERERS Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of (1,925)
(809)

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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.HEMBAT #)

(b) R=ZZE—ZFERA=+AH ' £5H
%R 28,010,000/ 7T & E R @
TE1S% L T IR R
Hi b R R70%% > E55%  H
EMFRERERZ LGRS
1,257,000/ T 2 = %8 6,753,000/

EEERRRNEZA

R-ZF—ZTF+—A+HAB K&
B (E4,005,0008 TiE—HHE
HEAMBARET % et - Himdl
MR A 55% R P E47.5% © B

BETBRASEZMBAR - M

36.DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) On 26 May 2010, the Group disposed of 15% of its interest in
CASTEL Qihua to its non-controlling shareholder at a
consideration of HK$8,010,000, reducing its controlling interest
from 70% to 55%. An amount of HK$6,753,000, representing
the difference between the disposal proceeds and the amount
transferred to non-controlling interests of HK$1,257,000 had

been recognised directly in equity.

On |5 November 2010, the Group further disposed of 7.5% of
its interest in CASTEL Qihua at a consideration of
HK$4,005,000, reducing its controlling interest from 55% to
47.5%. CASTEL Qihua ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group

and became an associate of the Group.

RAREE 2 HE QA
2010
FET
HK$'000
KERBIEZEERABEDMN ¢ Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:
ME - BB RR Property, plant and equipment 8,384
FE Inventories 7,043
B 5 & H e R Trade and other receivables |, 797
IRTTEHR KRS Bank balances and cash 5,883
B 5 R H fth e~ R Trade and other payables (9,778)
R IR Taxation payables 291)
HESEFE Net assets disposed of 13,038
HE KB AR WE Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:
B K e R B Consideration received and receivable 4,005
PR E B ERE Net assets disposed of (13,038)
JEFE R A Non-controlling interests 6,853
RIROBEE R A= Remaining interest in an associate 5,342
HE 2 s Gain on disposal 3,162
HESEMFREMA GEH) © Net cash inflow (outflow) arising on disposal:
ReRE Cash consideration 4005
B EHERITESEIES Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of (5,883)
(1878)
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6.HEMBAT @ 36.DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
€ RZZE—ZTF+—H AEERNE (¢) In November 2010, the Group's interest in Wuxi CASC Xindali
BMAMARNERERAR ([EH Electricity Co., Ltd. (“Wuxi Xindali") was diluted from 62.5% to
AN 2 #sh625%% 8= 41.67% as a result of the capital contributions by the other
41.67% * L DR EF AN EH A shareholders of Wuix Xindali. Wuxi Xindali ceased to be a
BORHEEME - Bt - EHFHAS subsidiary of the Group and accounted for as an associate of
TERAKRBEZIMBLRR  MKA the Group accordingly.
AEB7BEDT o
2010
TET
HK$'000
REZGBEZEERBESMN ¢ Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:
¥ - BERRE Property, plant and equipment 8,843
ERNMEE KA Prepaid lease payment 58,064
& Inventories 2,807
B 5 I H fth e Yk Trade and other receivables 501
WENE  BEKR Deposits paid for acquisition of property,

REAXN2RE plant and equipment 54,127
RITEBERE Bank balances and cash 8,925
EHREMEMNRK Trade and other payables (15913)
JE 5 1538 Taxation payables (4,724)
HEBEEFE Net assets disposed of 112,630
BIELENBLRAZER : Loss on deemed disposal of a subsidiary:

B R EKRKE Consideration received and receivable —
P EEERE Net assets disposed of (112,630)
I 12 6 1 R 2 Non-controlling interests 42,236
FIsr A& R AR Remaining interest in an associate 70,203
RIELEZER Loss on deemed disposal (191
RIELEELRSMLIFR Net cash outflow arising on deemed disposal:

BHERTHEBKES Bank balances and cash disposed of (8,925)
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3T.EXKIE

R-ZF——F+=ZA=+—0 £5E
REBFTHOBRBEEZERAAIRLY
111,034,000% & (= T — T &
158,920,000/ 7T) A& & R A £ B 5N
BEME W AERZT——F+
ZACtHASEHRE - ZRXHEBAA

KB 2 BRE G B4,147,0008 7T (=

T-TF:\) MASERGEEFRREL
RERASHKY 2 HRAEHEEZE R
NEXRBBELARFZZHDENR - ——
F+-F=+—H%29,865,000/ T (=
— T4 : 5350,00087T) « AEER
—EZ——F+ZA=+t—HE—ZXRH
BESKL 2 BE AR ERNEE 2D E
B 49730008 T (Z T — T F -
11,766,000 7T) °

3. EZHERIE
FEEEBERBEAN

RFEHETER - AKRERES A
HEEROMENRARLERBFTRE
HAFBEMT

37.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2011,
expenditure contracted but not provided for of approximately
HK$ 111,034,000 (2010: HK$158,920,000) relating to its investments

in sino-foreign enterprises of the Group. In addition, capital

the Group was committed to capital

commitment contracted for but not provided relating to the Group's
interest in a subsidiary established in Gansu in the PRC amounted to
HK$4,147,000 as at 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil), and the Group's
interest in jointly controlled entities established in Beijing and Inner
Mongolia in the PRC amounted to HK$29,865,000 as at 3|
December 2011 (2010: HK$5,350,000), and the Group's interest in
an associate established in Wuxi in the PRC amounted to
HK$4,973,000 as at 31 December 201 (2010: HK$ I 1,766,000).

38.OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future minimum
lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases in
respect of land and buildings as set out below:

2011 2010

FET FE T

HK$’000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 5,658 9,462
E_FEFREF In the second to fifth

(EEMEBREEN) year inclusive 2,384 8,568

8,042 18,030

B —BUATHREDETEN  HE
SHRABATE -

FEMABRER (58) BRA 2011 &E3§]

Leases are generally negotiated for an average term of two years
and rentals are fixed for the lease period.
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CEHERE 38.OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(Continued)
AREEBHBA The Group as lessor
REBEHBETER  AEBEBEFTY At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
TXNARFEREFEMAT : tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:
2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$:000
—FRx Within one year 1,443 1,395
—EZERF In the second to fifth
(%%Fﬁi BEA) year inclusive — 1,394
1,443 2,789
3B 4K 48 7l =1 21 39.RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
AEBERBEMAEERERETAS The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
HAEEE ([ZErEl]) - ZErEIZE “Scheme") for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
ENEAREEESRERETAHETA the Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds

PR o AEE B B H MK A 2 5% E
k- MEBMELRFHEN

AREzFEMERAESR RS ERA
EEZEAXREERRKBME ST 2K
B -ARAZHEMBARARKEZ
FMARAKBENGERE T LR
BRI ST B A o N5 B R R AR R I &t
Bm—BERRBEAEELARL

AR o
AT A Z KA 484,790,000 7T (=

—Z 4 : 5,026,000 7T) AR ER
S HARN RSB 2K -

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

under the control of trustee. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the Scheme, which contribution is matched by

employees.

The employees of the Company’'s PRC subsidiaries are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Company's PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.

The total cost charged to income of HK$4,790,000 (2010:
HK$5,026,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes

by the Group in respect of the current accounting period.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

159



160

REMBHEKME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE2—ZT——F+-FA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 201 |

40.BBABANTZRG &

@Wﬁmy%&m%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ'Kﬁg
RAETIERR SR

() RPEREBBFEFERZXS

7R 6% B 3B 10 ph B KT L
%ﬁﬁi%ﬁ%ﬂéﬁi‘&%(fﬁﬁﬂﬁ HE

B
ﬁl

BIYREBERETRE - It

R S 5 R e
H2RREET 2 BAAFAEE -

(a) EFHAELEZRS

FEMRBRER (

(1)
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MABERHBIERAXIEA
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T8 A R #727,000,0007C
(=Z % — 2 &

843,320,000/ L A R #&
727,000,0007) - EEE
HAEEERAREEFRE
NEIT%ES%(ZE—F
£ 3T%E6%) C BEX
156,000,000/ 7T 3 A B #
130,000,000t (= E — %
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40.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
BALANCES

Other than disclosed in notes 24, 25 and 29, the Group has the
following significant transactions and balances with related
companies:

(i) Transactions with government-related entities in the
PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities ultimately controlled, jointly controlled
or significantly influenced by the PRC government
(“government-related entities”). In addition, the Group itself is
part of a larger group of companies under CASC which is
controlled by the PRC government.

(a) Transactions with CASC Group

() Included in borrowings at 31 December 2011 were
four (2010: five) loans advanced from CALT through
CASC’s subsidiary, ASTF, as the trustee totalling
HK$872,400,000 or RMB727,000,000 (2010:
HK$843,320,000 or RMB727,000,000) which are
unsecured and bear fixed-rate interest ranging from
3.7% to 5% (2010: 3.7% to 6%) per annum. Loans of
HK$156,000,000 or RMBI130,000,000 (2010: Nil),
HK$236,400,000 or RMBI197,000,000 (2010:
HK$228,520,000 or RMBI197,000,000) and
HK$480,000,000 or RMB400,000,000 (2010: nil) are
repayable in April 2012, April 2014 and April 2016
respectively.
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40.BHRREAN LT 2R 5 46k 40.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
(%) BALANCES (Continued)
() BhEEABHFHEMAEEZXS (i) Transactions with government-related entities in the
(&) PRC (Continued)
(a) BFMBEEZLS (&) (a) Transactions with CASC Group (Continued)

2 RZZETZAE+A=+ (2) On 29 December 2009, Inner Mongolia CASC

NE AEEMRERE
EMHERAR (TARE
1) (N2R A% H56.41%
BaZMBERR) HARH
MABRRELRBERES
RARN(TAREAR]) (KA
ﬂ%ﬁ%%%*ZWE“
7)) TS AEZE Bk 0 R
mw’gﬁ/ﬁﬁai*ff
—F+-A=F+—-HIE=
B BRFEERBRIERGZ
Z AR A R B E R
WER - Al 2HBA
AMAM B R TERREA
BB ANEEM41.03%#
moFN - AZEMAA
SEREHEN(ZZE—F
F:60)ERKER - KE
A AR #12,308,0007T (18
2 7 %) 14,770,000% 7T )
(ZE—ZTF : AR¥
44,677,0007c (1 & R 4
51,825,000/ 7T ) ) ° A

ZTHHBEERAAE B H
E_TTNF+_A=+
AEBNRHAE o

Energine Composite Material Co. Ltd. (“IM Composite
Material”), a subsidiary with 56.41% equity interest
owned by the Company, entered into a framework
agreement with Inner Mongolia CASC Energine Wind
Turbine Manufacture Co. Ltd. (“IM Wind Turbine
Manufacture™), a subsidiary with 95% equity interest
owned by the Company in relation to the supply of
wind turbine blades for wind turbines for the three
financial years ending 31 December 201 |. Aerospace
Research Institute of Materials & Processing Technology,
which is a subsidiary of CALT, has a 41.03% equity
interest in IM Composite Material. During the year, IM
Composite Material sold 30 (2010: 60) sets of wind
blades to IM Wind Turbine Manufacture amounted to
RMB12,308,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$14,770,000) (2010: RMB44,677,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$51,825,000)). Details of the
transaction are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 29 December 2009.
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40.BBABANTZRG &
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40.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
BALANCES (Continued)

(i) Transactions with government-related entities in the
PRC (Continued)

(a) Transactions with CASC Group (Continued)

(3) On 29 December 2009, Inner Mongolia Energine New

Energy Development Co. Ltd. (“IM New Energy"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a Property Leasing Agreement with Inner Mongolia
CASC Energine Composite Material Co. Ltd. (“IM
Composite Material”), a subsidiary with 56.41% equity
interest owned by the Company, whereby IM New
Energy is to lease the premises in Xinghe County, to IM
Composite Material for a two year term from | January
2010 to 31 December 201 1. Aerospace Research
Institute of Materials & Processing Technology, which is
a subsidiary of CALT, has a 41.03% equity interest in IM
Composite Material. During the year, IM New Energy
received rental income from IM Composite Material
amounted to RMB6,379,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,655,000) (2010: RMB6,379,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,400,000)). Details
of the transaction are set out in the Company's

announcement dated 29 December 2009.
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40.BHRREAN LT 2R 5 46k 40.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
(%) BALANCES (Continued)
() BhEEABHFHEMAEEZXS (i) Transactions with government-related entities in the
(&) PRC (Continued)
(a) BFMBEEZLS (&) (a) Transactions with CASC Group (Continued)

@) RZZE-—ZF+—-A+— (4) On Il November 2010, four subsidiaries of the

B A2RIERKEBAF
RERE - REEM - &

Company, IM Wind Turbine Manufacture, IM Composite
Material, Wuxi Xindali and Beijing Energine Industry Co.

HBIMANRIERERIE Ltd. (“Beijing Energine"), entered into a framework
BERAR(TERER]) & agreement with Shanghai Hanli Machine Tool Co. Ltd.
D&l Aoy NI S (“Shanghai Hanli"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CALT,

NEKRERAR ([ LEH
WD) FTUERGZ @ B
- AERRE  AREHE
MoEBHIANIRIERE
BERBEE_T——F+
—A=t+—HBLmETK
FERBELBZ BN
RESHHHERE &
WE R RS 2 8B R
BeFRN - AREREKIE
RERRNLEBIHER
AR #19,997,0007 (B E
A #923,996,000/ L) (=
T - F : ANR®
18,260,000t (1 & R &
21,182,000/ 7T ) ) 2 &
o RBERRBEBER
ﬁoﬁ%&%ﬁﬁﬁ%$
RAABMAZT—ZF+
fﬂ+famgﬁ¢o

pursuant to which IM Turbine Manufacture, IM
Composite Material, Wuxi Xindali and Beijing Energine
are to supply wind turbines, wind turbine blades and
the associated services incidental thereto to Shanghai
Hanli in accordance with the terms of the framework
agreement for the two financial years ending 3|
December 2011. During the year, IM Turbine
Manufacture and Beijing Energine supplied wind blades,
wind turbine blades and the associated services to
Shanghai Hanli amounted to RMBI19,997,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$23,996,000) (2010:
RMB18,260,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$21,182,000)). Details of the transaction are set out
in the Company’'s announcement dated || November
2010.
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40.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
BALANCES (Continued)

(i) Transactions with government-related entities in the
PRC (Continued)

(b) Transactions with other government entities

The Group conducts business with other government-
related entities. The directors consider those government-
related entities are independent third parties so far as the
Group's business with them are concerned. The Group also
has certain sales and purchases transactions with certain
customers and suppliers in which the directors are of the
opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain the identity of
the counterparties and accordingly whether the

transactions are with other government-related entities.

In addition, the Group has entered into various transactions,
including deposits placements, borrowings and other
general banking facilities, with banks which are government-
related entities. A majority of its bank deposits and bank

borrowings are with government-related entities.
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40.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
BALANCES (Continued)

(ii) Transactions with other related parties

(a) During the year, the Group had the following significant

BERARSWT : transactions with related parties:
2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
HEZHEZ QA Sales of goods to associates 120,532 5,352
Qi %’/} AEE Purchase of goods from associates 67,015 6,717
EAMAREMBFE  Interest paid to ASTF 41,661 39,827

BN ELQE Interest paid to a non-controlling

Z FEHE RS AR R A B shareholder of a subsidiary 4,806 4857
HREZEHEEZFEWA Interest income from a jointly controlled entity 7,014 1,577

R-_FB——%+-A=+—H
MEEERERME —RNEBLA
BEARENZFRHIMERR
Bt 2 — % B 580,148,000
Tk A K #66,790,0007T (=&
— T4 : 87,000,0007 7T 3 A
R #75,000,0007) * AR
EERREEFSR6.16% (=
—ZF 6.2%) WRAR-F
“EE+-ARHER-

RERRZHBBEER T
ARRBRBEERR - FRE
B-BREBEFHY ZFTRE
R fEFE AR KERHSR80R
7 o

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(b) Included in borrowings at 3| December 2011 was a loan of

HK$80, 148,000 or RMB66,790,000(2010: HK$87,000,000
or RMB75,000,000) advanced from a non-controlling
shareholder with significant influence over a subsidiary. The
amount is unsecured, bears fixed-rate interest at 6.16%
(2010: 6.2%) per annum and is repayable in full in
November 2020.

The balances with associates are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and were repayable within one year according to
the credit periods. Based on invoice date, the amounts are
aged within 90 days for both years.
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(dy FZEBABZFM
FREBEBEBABZEHEHD

40.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/

BALANCES (Continued)

(ii) Transactions with other related parties (Continued)
(d) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management during the year was

DE as follows:
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RHEEF Short-term benefits 6,394 5,496
BER R A8 A Post-employment benefits 12 12
6,406 5,508
TEBEBABZEMAEFME The remuneration of key management is determined by the
BgREARRAETSBEE remuneration committee having regard to the performance
E ° of individuals and market trends.

MEEEBRERS

%:?——¢+—ﬂ:+—EvW%ﬂ
W& E 2 571,838,000 T (=

25 8 UARS  WOBEREEN
L E

BeSh - B 305,220,0008 L (ZF—F
F :4,176,0008 7T) AX N FHE LR A
FEHER ZRE -

FEMABRER (58) BRA 2011 &E3§]

4

.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 201 |, payables of HK$71,838,000 (2010: Nil) for
the acquisition of intangible asset had not been paid and had been

included in other payables.

In addition, payable of HK$5,220,000 (2010: HK$4,176,000)
represented dividend paid to non-controlling interests of a
subsidiary.
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=)
*FRHIRRER

RZE——FRZT—ZTF+=A=
—BAZASEZEMELA - BERA
/\HTI%IJEEE§*+;ZDT

BRTERRE L
BE/ERBE
Nominal value of
issued ordinary
AA%H

Name of company

share capitall

registered capital

WEAF

Subsidiaries

HEEIMAIRALE

Incorporated and operating in Hong Kong:

PERAMBTBEARAA 1000077

China Aerospace HK$10,000
Telecommunications Limited

RARRRR (BE)BRAE  10000%T

China Aerospace Telecommunications  HK$10,000
(Hong Kong) Limited

REEXERAA 2ETL

Tin Shun Industrial Limited HKS2

NHEEARAT BT

New Image Development Limited HKS!

MEERERAR BT

Crownpluss International Limited HK$ |

EREEMEAE
Registered and operating in the PRC:

AR 1182510007
RMBI18251,100

ITRERIZERRE
Beijing Energine Industry Co, Ltd

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

42.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled

entities of the Company at 31 December 2011 and 2010 are as

follows:

held by
the Company
2011 2010 2011
% % %
100 = -
- = 100
100 = -
100 = -
100 = -
- — 100

RxgzzERl
KL
5E%

Percentage of equit

A%H
JEfE%
)
attributable
to the Group
2010
%
100
100
100
100
100
100

IERE

Principal activities

NERTER

Distribution of broadband business

NERTER

Distribution of broadband business

PENBEER

Distribution of elevator products
RERR

Investment holding

REZK

Investment holding

RERRED HES
Investment holding and distribution

of wind turbine generators
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42. IEI‘ﬂE"‘J BtE AT 42.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
LEEHEREHE @ SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)
REERZBIM
e/ EREA K47 KE£R
Nominal value of B¥E% %
issued ordinary Percentage of equity
L share capitall held by attributable IE%H
Name of company registered capital the Company to the Group Principal activities
2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %
KEAR (&)
Subsidiaries (Continued)
EHERMRLE  (8)
Registered and operating in the PRC: (Continued)
IHOXERBLERERAF  ARKS00000007 - — 5 2 HERSHARHKER
Jiangsu Aerospace Wanyuan RMB50,000,000 Manufacture and distribution of
REPM Motor Co, Ltd* elevator products
RARBRE LR BERAF®  ARHI50000007 - — 100 00 AHEEER
RMBI5,000,000 Distribution of broadband business
MAER (KR ENEE AR 938000007 - — 55 55 EREE
BRART RMBY93,800,000 Operation of wind farm
Aerospace Long Yuan (Benxi)
Wind Power Co, Ltd*
RXREREE (RIBRAT® 2000000087 - — 100 00 AREFER
HK$20,000,000 Distribution of broadband business
REEMAERMERT AR %80,000,0007C - — 100 00 HERAHEHK
AR DA RMB80,000,000 Manufacture and distribution of wind
Inner Mongolia Energine New turbine generators
Energy Development Co. Ltd*#
AEEMABRAER AR#500000007C - — 95 9% HERHHEMREEER
HERRAR " RMB50,000,000 Manufacture and distribution of wind
Inner Mongolia CASC Energine Wind turbine generators and blades

Turbine Manufacture Co. Ltd*

FEMABRER (58) BRA 2011 &E3§]
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42. IEMTE"_J - B g

BAT

¢\ H*E*“E Eé*‘l’ (&)

UL

Name of company

WEAF (2)
Subsidiaries (Continued)

ErEEMRAE : (8)

RAgz ARl
BE/ERBE
Nominal value of
issued ordinary
share capital/

registered capital

Registered and operating in the PRC: (Contined)

REEMABREAMHERAR ARE800000007

Inner Mangolia CASC Energine
Composite Materials Co. Ltd

RAMBRBEE T & (R
BRRE
(MERAMBRERARE
(RA)BRAA)

IRRAERRRARALAT

Beijing CASC Energine Wind
Turbine Co. Ltd*

HBMAERRERERE
R

FARARER
Suzhou Aerospace TITP Wind
Power Technology Co, Ltd.

BRARAR

#

RMB80,000,000

AR #300000007
RMB30,000,000

AR%100000007
RMB10,000,000

AR 5800000007
RMBS0,000,000

AR 1300000007
RMB30,000,000

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

42.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)

201
%

65

L k%8
K% JEfE%
Percentage of equity
held by attributable
the Company to the Group
[ 2010 2011 2010
% % %
= 56 56
= 100 100
65 - =
= 100 100
= 53.85 =

IERE

Principal activities

HERDERBER
Manufacture and distribution of

wind blades

HERAHENER
Manufacture and distribution of

telecommunication products

PEREER
Distribution of wind

turbine products

HERDEREE
Manufacture and distribution of

wind turbine generators

HERD BEBER
Manufacture and distribution of wind

turbine products
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42. IEI‘ﬂE"‘J BE AT 42.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
EiEEHEEEH @ SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)
RAgEZEA
e/ EREA ALH A58
Nominal value of A% Pk %
issued ordinary Percentage of equity
L share capitall held by attributable IE%H
Name of company registered capital the Company to the Group Principal activities
2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %
Beny
Associates
ReBEMALREE
Registered and operating in the PRC:
THERENZERRAD  ARBINI000T - — 25 5 BRER
RMB333,320,000 Operation of wind farm
EHERENEERRAD  ARB438200000T - - 15.35 5% ESEE
RMB438,200,000 Operation of wind farm
MmRRERBEROERAT ARE300000007 - - 25 5 RERDHERENASER
RMB30,000,000 Manufacture and distribution of
GPS product
RARSHERRERD AR 150,000,000 - — 20 0 BRER
ERDAH RMB150,000,000 Operation of wind farm
BRRAERIMANER A 1200000007 - - 41.67 467 RERSBEH
ARAR RMBI 20,000,000 Manufacture and distribution of wind
Wuxi CASC Energine Xindali turbine generators
Hlectricity Co, Ltd*
ENRAERENEZTERAT  ARK9379200T - - 40 -  RSEE
Gaizhou Energine Wind Power Co,, Ltd. RMBY93,799,200 Operation of wind farm

REIMAXBRER ( ) BRA 2011 &E3§]
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2. FTEMBAT - BEE

BAT

REEEHEESEE »)

UL

Name of company

ARRHER

Jointly controlled entities

ReBEMHIRAEE

RAgz ARl
BE/ERBE
Nominal value of
issued ordinary
share capital/

registered capital

Registered and operating in the PRC:

ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%%E
ZRARAR

Beijing De\ph\ Wan Yuan Engine
Management Systems Co, Ltd*

IRERBREEH AR
ERRE!

Beijing Wanyuan - Henniges Sealing
Systems Co, Ltd*

IHMAERESRAERE
BRAR

Jiangsu CASC Energine Wind
Turbine Manufacture Co, Ltd*

AREAEERMERARD R’

16,000,000% 0
US$16,000,000

AR 10000000070
RMB100,000,000

AR 10000000070
RMB100,000,000

AR%926100007
RMBY2,610,000

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

42.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)

201
%

L k%8
K% JEfE%
Percentage of equity
held by attributable
the Company to the Group
[ 2010 2011 2010
% % %
= 49 49
— 40 40
= 50 50
— 49 49

IERE

Principal activities

RENERIRERAR
Manufacture of automotive engine
management systems

and components

RESHRHEZR
Manufacture of automotive sealing

products

YERERH

Manufacture of wind turbine

BaES

Operation of wind farm
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2.FTEMBAE - BEAT

REREHEEEN @

# RPBEEMZPIRERLRE -
# NPEEMZ2MELE -

#t FEBERZEARAESELRES
FREMEEST - Bt  EZERARA
SBEUZARABEERNYE N MR
AARBAKEEE15% 2B E DA

BRREABERIZ ARSI AEERE L
BABBEN BRI AZERBAETZE

EZ2EARR  LIBKRMBZEE
EMELAR BEAARAREHNE
B NREAKREREREEZTER
ARRERARECEEFECEER
Do BERA  HYEMMELR R
ERBZER  BSAHBARITE -

BERSHR  MWEARBERTEM
BRES °

PEMABRER (58) BRAR | 2011 F3R

42.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)

# Sino-foreign joint entity enterprise registered in the PRC.

# Wholly foreign-owned enterprises registered in the PRC.

### The Group is entitled to appoint up to two out of seven directors to

the board of directors of this company. Hence, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Group has significant influence over the
company. Accordingly, the company is accounted for as a 15% owned

associate of the Group.

Except for the companies established in the PRC, the classes of
shares held by the Group in the above companies are ordinary

shares issued by those companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities of the Company which, in the opinion of the
directors, principally affected the results or assets or form a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries and associates would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

the reporting period.



IFHBERRER
FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BE+-A=t-BLEE

Year ended 31 December
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
FETL FETL FET FHETT FER
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000

= X Turnover 178,755 184206 663373 698083 406,285
BR Bt A A (B598) Profit (loss) before taxation (570521) (488,507 77,892 122212 13,223
MBS Taxation charge (1510) (7421 (7091)  (20,128)  (11,318)
AEFEN (BE) Profit (loss) for the year  (572,031)  (495928) 70,801 102,084 1,905
R+t=A=t-8
At 31 December
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

TET FRET FET FET FER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000

EEREE ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES
BEEE Total assets 2214648 2165730 3,129,179 3,109991 3,851,458
BELEE Total liabilities (642,805)  (889,818) (1,484,381) (1350,824) (1,967,067)
FEE®E Net assets 1571843 1275912 1644798 1759167 1,884,391

CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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CHINA ENERGINE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
ohE K R B (EE) AR A

Tel B : (852) 2586 1185
Fax 8K : (852) 2531 0088
Email EE  : energine@energine.hk

Website #83t : http://www.energine.hk

Suite 4701, 47th Floor, Central Plaza,
18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BB BEBE18NTIRERATRITONE
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